
 
CITY OF GRAHAM 

REGULAR SESSION AGENDA 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2017 

7:00 P.M. 

 
 
Meeting called to order by the Mayor 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

1. Consent Agenda: 
a. Approval of Minutes – September 5, 2017 Regular Session 
b. Tax Releases & Refunds 
c. Request from Graham First United Methodist Church to close East Market Street on October 29, 

2017 from 3:00 p.m. - 8:00 p.m. for a Community Trunk or Treat event 
d. Request from the Graham Police Department to close the 100 block of E. Elm Street from 8 a.m. - 

6 p.m. on November 11, 2017 for the Veterans Day Festival 
e. Amend the City of Graham Traffic Schedules to include the Forks of Alamance Subdivision 

2. Old Business: 
a. Public Hearing & Second Reading: Code of Ordinances Amendment (Brunch Bill): Amend Code of 

Ordinances to allow the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages on licensed premises within 
City limits beginning at 10:00 a.m. on Sundays 

b. Public Hearing: Text Amendment Review of the The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

3. Requests and Petitions from Citizens: 
a. Request from the Humane Society of Alamance County (HSAC) to close the 100 Block of East Elm 

Street, 150 feet of the southernmost portion of the 100 Block of North Marshall Street and the 
North Marshall/Elm Street parking lot on Saturday, October 21, 2017 and Sunday, October 22, 
2017 from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. respectively, for the purpose of hosting the HSAC’s 20th Annual 
Woofstock Festival; subject to the receipt of a certificate of insurance 

b. Request from Chuck Talley to close the 100 Block of E. Elm Street from 6:00 p.m. on Friday, 
October 20, 2017 to 5:00 p.m. on Sunday, October 22, 2017 for the Humane Society of Alamance 
County’s 20th Annual Woofstock event; subject to the receipt of a certificate of insurance 

4. Smoking Ordinance: 
a. Amend the Code of Ordinances to add a section prohibiting smoking in all municipal buildings, 

vehicles and grounds 

5. Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda 
 

Page 1 of 81



193 

 

 

 

CITY OF GRAHAM 
REGULAR SESSION 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 5, 2017 
7:00 P.M. 

 
The City Council of the City of Graham met in regular session at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, September 
5, 2017, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street. 
 
Council Members Present:   Also Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman    Frankie Maness, City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy Linens   Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager  
Council Member Griffin McClure  Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
Council Member Chip Turner   Keith Whited, City Attorney 
Council Member Lee Kimrey   Nathan Page, Planning Director 
      Brian Faucette, Recreation & Parks Director 
       
Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 7:00 p.m.  Rev. Darryl Peoples of 
the Historic Providence Christian Church gave the invocation and everyone stood to recite the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Peterman invited Kristin Foust to step forward and address the Council.  Ms. Foust 
announced that her son, Logan Foust had been selected to represent Alamance County in the Youth 
Shrine Bowl for football.  Additionally, Ms. Foust explained that she and her husband are residential 
developers and had some concern with the School Board’s recent talk about temporary redistricting 
and how it affects developers.  She asked that the School Board be invited to City and County 
meetings during the development phase.  Mayor Peterman advised that representatives from both 
the School Board and the County are invited to all of the Technical Review Committee meetings.  
He added that we may need to push a little harder to get those representatives to actually attend. 
 
Consent Agenda: 

a. Approval of Minutes – August 1, 2017 Regular Session 
b. Tax Releases & Refunds 

 

Page 2 of 81



194 

 

 

 

 
c. Appoint Elaine Murrin to serve on the Graham Historical Museum Board of Directors 
d. Approve Request by Graham Recreation and Parks Department to close the 100 block of 

W. Elm Street from 5:00 p.m.-11:00 p.m. and the 100 block of E. Elm Street from 12:00 
a.m.-11:00 p.m. on October 27, 2017 for the Downtown Pumpkin Bash 

e. Approve Letter of Appreciation – Southern Loop Roadway 
f. Approve Resolution Authorizing Application for Grant Assistance from The State of 

North Carolina for Water Distribution System Asset Inventory and Assessment 
g. Approve Resolution Authorizing Application for Grant Assistance from The State of 

North Carolina for Wastewater Collection System Asset Inventory and Assessment  

Mayor Peterman asked Council Members if they would like to pull any of the items from the 
Consent Agenda as he asked that items “a” and “e” be pulled.  Council Member Griffin McClure 
asked to pull item “d”. 
 
Referring to item “a”, Mayor Peterman asked City Clerk Darcy Sperry to correct the spelling of 
Sergeant Ben Edwards name in the minutes from August 1, 2017.   

Page 3 of 81



195 

 

 

 

Council Member Chip Turner made a motion to approve item “a” on the Consent Agenda, 
seconded by Council Member Lee Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Mayor Peterman thanked Council Member Kimrey for his hard work with item “e”.  After thanking 
staff and stating that it was a team effort in getting the proposed Southern Loop removed from the 
Future Land Use Map, Council Member Kimrey made a motion to approve item “e” on the 
Consent Agenda, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Council Member McClure stated that it was brought to his attention that “senior night” at Graham 
High School is set for the same night as the Downtown Pumpkin Bash and he asked Recreation and 
Parks Director Brian Faucette if any thought been given to this when setting the date for the City 
sponsored event.  Mr. Faucette stated that it was an oversight and that going forward, he will take 
into consideration the high school football schedule when selecting future dates for this event.  
Council Member McClure made a motion to approve item “d” on the Consent Agenda, seconded 
by Council Member Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy Linens made a motion to approve items “b”, “c”, “f” and “g” on the 
Consent Agenda, seconded by Council Member McClure.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Old Business: 

a. Third Reading: Amend Code of Ordinances to require Encroachment Permit for 
Permanent Improvements 

Assistant City Manager Aaron Holland briefly summarized this amendment request.  He stated that 
we currently do not have language which allows for the placement of permanent objects within the 
public right-of-way in the Central Business District B-1.  He added that this ordinance would 
provide a mechanism for someone to do so.  At the request from Council at last month’s meeting, 
Staff and City Attorney Keith Whited revised the proposed ordinance amendment, making changes 
to the approval process, insurance requirements and “grandfathering” in existing structures in the B-
1 public right-of-way areas. 

With no questions from the Council forthcoming, Mayor Peterman opened the meeting up to the 
floor.  Ms. Jennifer Talley of 808 Sideview Street Graham stepped forward to address Council.  Ms. 
Talley expressed concern with the proposed language in section 18-2, (b).  She asked Council to 
consider amending period for removal from one week to 30 days.  Mr. Whited advised that the one 
week language has been in the ordinance since 1982. 

With no further comments, Council Member Kimrey asked to be recused, adding that he owns 
property on West Elm Street and will be asking the City for an encroachment agreement.  Council 
Member McClure made a motion to recuse Council Member Kimrey, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Linens.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

Following a brief discussion between Council and Staff, Council Member McClure made a motion 
to approve the Ordinance amendment to Chapter 18, Article I., (Streets, Sidewalks, and Other Public 
Places) of the Code of Ordinances to require an Encroachment License Agreement for permanent 
improvements, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion.  Council 
Member Kimrey rejoined the Council. 

 

Page 4 of 81



196 

 

 

 

b. Public Hearing: Floodplain Regulations (AM1706). Updating the article and adopting 
new maps as required by the Federal Emergency Management Agency  

Planning Director Nathan Page explained that this is an amendment to our Flood Damage 
Prevention Ordinances.  Mr. Page stated that given the requirement of the National Flood Insurance 
Program to adopt these new maps on or before November 17, 2017, the City of Graham must do so 
in order to save money for our citizens on their flood insurance premiums.  He added that Staff is 
proposing two changes.  The first being to allow fill in the floodplain for some locations upon 
approval from the Technical Review Committee (TRC).  The second change would be to require 
two elevation certificates.  Currently the State only requires one. 

Following a brief discussion between Council and Staff, Mayor Peterman opened the Public 
Hearing.  With no comments forthcoming, he closed the Public Hearing. 

Council Member Kimrey made a motion that the text amendment be approved, the text amendment 
is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and this action is reasonable and in the 
public interest for the following reason: It better protects our flood prone areas.  Council Member 
Chip Turner seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

 
Requests and Petitions of Citizens: 

a. First Reading: Code of Ordinances Amendment (Brunch Bill): Amend Code of 
Ordinances to allow the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages on licensed 
premises within City Limits beginning at 10:00 a.m. on Sundays 

Mr. Holland explained that currently the City follows the State statute which allows for the sale and 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on licensed premises within City limits beginning at 12:00 p.m. 
on Sundays.  Recent legislation allows for cities to have the option to change the time of sale from 
12:00 p.m. to 10:00 a.m.  Mr. Holland advised that Staff recommends approval. 

Following a brief discussion between Council Members and Staff, Mr. Jason Cox of 200 North Main 
Street Graham stepped forward to address Council.  He stated that this request is a response to 
demand and encouraged Council to approve it much like neighboring municipalities have done.   

Some Council Members felt this is something that should be voted on following a Public Hearing.  
Mr. Whited advised Council that State statute does not require a Public Hearing, but Council can 
choose to hold one if they wish to do so. 

Council Member McClure made a motion to schedule a Public Hearing for next month, seconded 
by Council Member Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

b. Encroachment License request by Lee & Mindi Kimrey for property at 106 West Elm 
Street 

Council Member Kimrey asked to be recused.  Mayor Peterman made a motion to recuse Council 
Member Kimrey, seconded by Council Member McClure.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Council Member Kimrey of 410 Raven Court Graham stated that this request is for a balcony at 
104-106 West Elm Street.  He added that he submitted a complete set of sealed plans to the 
Inspections Department and noted that Staff has asked for an as built survey, which he has no 
problem supplying. 
 

Page 5 of 81



197 

 

 

 

Council Members asked if the balcony would be permanently attached to the building.  Council 
Member Kimrey stated that it will be bolted to the building and can be removed if the City should 
wish him to do so. 
 
With no further comments forthcoming, Mayor Pro Tem Linens made a motion to authorize the 
City Manager and City Attorney to enter into an encroachment license agreement with Lee & Mindi 
Kimrey for a proposed balcony at 106 W. Elm Street with the following condition(s): 

 Provide proof and maintenance of $1,000,000 in liability insurance with the City as 
additional insured. 

 Provide a final survey to confirm approved use of public space.  
 Improvements under the Encroachment License must be made prior to the expiration of the 

building permit.  
Council Member Turner seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion.  Council 
Member Kimrey rejoined the Council. 
 
Recommendations from Planning Board: 
a. Public Hearing: 1216 South Main St B-2 (RZ1702): Request by Danny Owen to rezone 

property located at 1216 South Main Street (GPIN8883351628) from Medium Density 
Residential (R-12) to General Business (B-2) 

Mr. Page explained that this is a request from Mr. Danny Owen to rezone the subject property from 
R-12 to B-2.  He added that this is one of two adjoining lots which are currently occupied by a single 
family dwelling and stated reason for this rezoning request is “designated business zone by City of 
Graham.”  Mr. Page advised that no other development plan has been submitted at this time. 

Council and Staff briefly discussed the zoning of neighboring parcels, followed by Mayor Peterman 
opening the Public Hearing.  With no comments forthcoming, Mayor Peterman closed the Public 
Hearing. 

Council Member Kimrey made a motion that the application be approved, the application is 
consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the 
public interest for the following reason: It advances commercial growth through one of our main 
corridors.  Council Member Turner seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

b. Public Hearing: 1218 South Main Street (RZ1703): Request by Patricia Allen to rezone 
property located at 1218 South Main Street (GPIN8883351529) from Medium Density 
Residential (R-12) to General Business (B-2) 

 
Mr. Page explained that much like the request just heard by Council, this is a request from Ms. 
Patricia Hughes Allen to rezone the subject property from R-12 to B-2.  He added that this is one of 
two adjoining lots which are currently occupied by a single family dwelling and stated reason for this 
rezoning request is “designated business zone by City of Graham.”  Mr. Page advised that no other 
development plan has been submitted at this time. 

With no comments forthcoming, Mayor Peterman opened and closed the Public Hearing.  Council 
Member McClure made a motion that the application be approved, the application is consistent with 
The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the public interest 
for the following reason: It promotes commercial growth in one of our busiest corridors.  Council 
Member Turner seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Page 6 of 81



198 

 

 

 

c. Public Hearing: Mixed-Use Dwellings (AM1707): Request by Chuck Talley to permit 
more than one dwelling above a structure in the Central Business District (B-1) 

Mr. Page explained that about a year and a half ago, we removed language from our Ordinance that 
said all things plural are singular and all things singular are plural.  When we did that, it meant that 
you could only have one dwelling on the second floor and above within the B-1 district.  Mr. Page 
added that Staff is recommending the removal of “with adequate light, air and bathroom facilities” 
from the original amendment request, as items such as these are enforced within the Building Code. 

A brief discussion between Council and Staff ensued regarding use by right in the B-1 district and 
how approval of this would not affect current Fire Code in this area.  With no further comments 
forthcoming, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing. 

Mr. Chuck Talley of 808 Sideview Street Graham stepped forward to address Council.  He stated 
that he feels this Ordinance needs to be cleaned up.  He added that he currently had buildings that 
are considered non-conforming due to the current language.  With no further comments 
forthcoming, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing.  

Council Member Kimrey made a motion that the application be approved with the alternate 
language, the application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this 
action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reason: It allows more residential 
units in commercial buildings in our Business and O-I zones.  Mayor Pro Tem Linens seconded the 
motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

d. Review of The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

Mr. Page explained that the Graham Planning Board invited members of the steering committee for 
The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan to convene at their July or August meetings.  At those 
meetings, the following updates to the plan were recommended: 

 Create an Outdoor Space downtown for commercial gatherings 
 Consider creating Overlays for Jimmie Kerr (one for ACC, one for the truck stops) 

Mr. Page stated that the above recommendations are additions to the Plan in the mid to long term 
range.  They also recommended that the Southern Loop be removed from the Future Land Use 
Map today.  Mr. Page advised that NCDOT has scheduled a Public Hearing for September 14, 2017 
at which they will vote on whether or not to permanently remove the Southern Loop. 

Council Members and Staff discussed the NCDOT’s process for requiring a Public Hearing, the 
Comprehensive Transportation Plan, and overlay districts along Jimmie Kerr Road.  Council 
Members noted that while we are not required to hold a Public Hearing regarding the proposed 
addition of Overlays along Jimmie Kerr Road, they felt that one needed to be held prior to taking 
any action. 

Mayor Peterman made a motion to schedule a Public Hearing next month to consider adding an 
Overlay district along Jimmie Kerry Road.  Council Member Kimrey amended the motion to include 
Highway 54 and West Elm Street as well, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor 
of the motion. 

 

 

Page 7 of 81



199 

 

 

 

Council Member Kimrey made a motion to amend the following sections of The Graham 2035 
Comprehensive Plan; removal of the Southern Loop from our Future Land Use Map and we include 
the creation of an outdoor space in downtown for commercial gatherings, seconded by Mayor 
Peterman.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

Downtown Revitalization Project Grant: 

Mr. Maness explained that the City is a tentative recipient of a $50,000 grant through the State of 
North Carolina’s Rural Development Division within the Department of Commerce.  This calls for 
proposals to be awarded monies for “Downtown Revitalization and Economic Development.”  
Staff has created a list of potential projects and ranked them.  A proposal must be submitted to the 
State by September 15, 2017.  Options presented were as follows: 

1. Fund a Revolving Loan- with a low-interest rate, to be re-loaned out as money returns 
($50,000) 

2. Release our own Request for Proposals- to reward grant money for projects that fit with 
Graham’s goals, i.e. a 2000 square foot restaurant, or 10 new dwelling units in our downtown 
($50,000) 

3. Development Finance Initiative- to find an investor and construct a two or more story 
building on our parking lot beside the Roasted Coffee Depot ($15,000+)  

4. East Harden/Pine Street Sidewalk- to complete the sidewalk network to new growth areas, 
allowing the residents pedestrian access into downtown ($50,000+) 

5. Create a Downtown Plan- invest in a small area plan for the downtown and perhaps the 
Highway 54 and Highway 87 Corridors into downtown ($50,000) 

6. Alley art- to turn one of our alleys into an art exhibit, with lights or streamers in a European 
style (up to $50,000) 

7. Greensboro-like SparkGrants- up to $5,000 to support murals, pop-up shops, and special 
events ($50,000) 

8. Downtown Streetscape- bike racks, planters, recycling containers, perhaps more trashcans, 
or benches ($50,000) 

9. Sesquicentennial Park- to offset the up-fit costs and remove the sinking brick planter (up to 
$50,000) 

10. Wayfinding- to install signs which help individuals find destinations within our City 
($50,000) 

11. Bring Wi-Fi back downtown ($20,000-$25,000) 
12. Design Grants- where architects could be hired as a condition of façade grant funds being 

rewarded, resulting in a more cohesive and interesting downtown fabric (up to $50,000) 
13. Stormwater Control Measures (SCM) in the Court Square- this would pay for the 

engineering costs associated with designing a SCM downtown, to double as additional 
outdoor activity space and planting areas ($50,000)  

14. Parklet- to create a portable park which would be placed over two parking spaces, as 
requested by property owners ($50,000) 

15. Rent Subsidy Program- to offset the initial lease costs for new businesses Graham is trying 
to attract ($50,000) 
 

 
 

Page 8 of 81



200 

 

 

 

Following a discussion between Council and Staff regarding the various options presented, Mayor 
Peterman opened the discussion up to the floor.   
 
Mr. Cox stepped forward and encouraged Council to create a “hybrid community fund” that option 
#1 would allow for. 
 
Ms. Talley stepped forward and encouraged Council to select option #11, bringing Wi-Fi back to 
the downtown area. 
 
With no further comments forthcoming, Council Member Kimrey made a motion we authorize the 
City Manager to draft a proposal for Option #1 (Fund a Revolving Loan) in the amount of $50,000 
in reimbursement grant funds from the North Carolina Department of Commerce, seconded by 
Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 
Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda: 

Mr. James Albright of 1035 Sycamore Road Graham requested a permit to fire a crossbow within 
City limits to eliminate deer that he deems nuisance on his property.  Mayor Peterman advised that 
he would have to speak to the Police Department regarding this matter. 

Lieutenant Duane Flood of the Graham Police Department advised that the Graham High School 
will be bringing a request to Council to block a portion of East Elm Street in October for a 
Homecoming festival. 

Julie Budd of 324 Hillcrest Avenue Burlington stepped forward and invited Council Members to a 
free lunch workshop on September 14, 2017 regarding students facing homelessness. 

Mr. Greg Euliss of 1813 Meadowview Drive Graham expressed concern for a proposed 
development off Luther Drive.  His concerns included the buffer area between Rogers Road and 
Meadowview Drive. 

Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Maness if any progress has been made with regards to a no 
smoking policy in City parks.  Mr. Maness advised that he is hoping Council will see something on 
that next month. 

Mayor Pro Tem Linens stated that he has received complaints about the intersection of Lacy Holt 
Road and Rogers Road and could we look into the possibility of adding a stop light at that location.  
Mr. Maness advised that Rogers Road is a DOT road, but we can certainly talk to them about it. 

Mayor Pro Tem Linens asked that we keep Council Member Turner’s mother in our thoughts and 
prayers as she has recently been admitted to the hospital. 

At 9:17 p.m. Mayor Pro Tem Linens made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Council Member 
Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

 
_____________________________ 
Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
 

Page 9 of 81



Page 10 of 81



Page 11 of 81



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 6, 2017 

 
Graham City Council Members, 

 

First UMC Graham will be hosting a community trunk-or-treat event on 
Sun, Oct 29 from 5pm – 6:30pm at the church (303 North Main 

Street).  The church would like to request that East Market Street be 
closed from 3pm-8pm to accommodate our trick or treating area 

(candy give away, games, and inflatables).  We plan to use only the 
first 50 yards of East Market Street (next to the church), so neighbors 

can still access their homes from the other end.  Please contact me via 
email at brian@fumcgraham-nc.org or on my cell at 919-428-1841 if 

you have any questions. 
 

Thank you for considering this request! 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

 

Brian Yoder 
Director of Children and Discipleship Ministries 

First United Methodist Church, Graham 

Page 12 of 81



Page 13 of 81



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: STREET CLOSURE ON NOVEMBER 11, 2017 FOR VETERANS DAY 
FESTIVAL 

PREPARED BY: LT. DUANE FLOOD, POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

Approve the closure of E. Elm Street from 8 AM‐ 6 PM on November 11, 2017 for the Veterans Day Festival. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The Alamance County Veterans Day Parade Committee requests the closure of the 100 block of E. Elm Street in 

downtown Graham on November 11, 2017 for a Veterans Day Festival.  The requested closure E. Elm Street will 

begin at 8:00 am and re‐open by 6:00pm.   

Staff has spoken with affected business owners regarding the street closure.  They have agreed to the closure of E. 

Elm Street from the Graham Soda Shop to the intersection of E. Elm St and Marshall St for the event. Several of the 

affected businesses are vendors and/or sponsors participating with the event. 

This event runs in conjunction with the Annual Veterans Day Parade scheduled on this date at 10:00 am. This 

festival will include vendors, live music, military vehicles on display, and free food for all Veterans in attendance. 

This is a County sponsored event and the County is obtaining insurance for the parade and event this year as they 

have over the past couple of years for the Annual Veterans Day Parade. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact to the City of Graham in order to close the street.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval. The Veterans Parade has been a big success and this anticipated event has already 

gained a lot of public support. The anticipated number of participants for this event warrant the requested closure 

hours in order to provide a safe environment. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CLOSURE OF E. ELM STREET FROM 8:00 AM‐ 6:00 PM ON NOVEMBER 11, 2017 FOR THE 

VETERANS DAY FESTIVAL. 

Page 14 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Traffic Schedule\Staff Report Traffic Schedule Update.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  TRAFFIC SCHEDULE UPDATE 

PREPARED BY:  NATHAN PAGE, PLANNING DIRECTOR 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:   

Update the Traffic Schedule, on file in the City Clerk’s office to reflect stop sign locations and weight limits for the 

new roads that make up the Forks of Alamance subdivision (S1502). 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The Forks of Alamance subdivision is nearing a phase where additional homes will be built. As such, in the interest 

of public safety, the City of Graham should adopt stop intersections. Additionally, while the roadways will continue 

to permit traffic related to development, trucks in excess of 5 tons, which do not have a permit from the City, 

should not be operating on these streets. 

While the speed limit is not specifically addressed in the Traffic Schedule, it should be noted that the proposed 

speed limit for the subdivision is 25 mph. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

As the City of Graham has already been paid for all required signs, the cost to the City comes in the form of future 

maintenance for the signage. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Staff’s recommendation is to approve the changes as requested. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we adopt the amended Traffic Schedule. 

 

Page 15 of 81



 
 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF GRAHAM 

TRAFFIC SCHEDULES 
As of October 3, 2017 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16 of 81



1 
 

 

 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Table of Contents .......................................................................................................................................... 1 

Section 1.   One-Way Streets. ....................................................................................................................... 0 

Section 2. U-Turns. .................................................................................................................................... 0 

Section 3. Yield Intersections. ................................................................................................................... 0 

Section 4. Weight Limits on Certain Streets. ............................................................................................. 2 

Section 5. Parking Prohibited At All Times. ............................................................................................. 4 

Section 6. Parking Prohibited Between 2:00 A.M. and 6:00 A.M. ............................................................ 7 

Section 7. Two-Hour Parking, 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. ............................................................................. 8 

Section 8. Parking Prohibited Between 8:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M. ............................................................ 8 

Section 9. Parking Prohibited At Other Times. ......................................................................................... 9 

Section 10.  Angle Parking. .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 11.  Loading Zones; Handicap Parking. ........................................................................................... 9 

Section 12.  Stop Intersections. ................................................................................................................... 10 

Index: .......................................................................................................................................................... 23 

References: .................................................................................................................................................. 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
All traffic schedules are kept and maintained by the clerk.  
 
 City of Graham Code of Ordinances Article VII, Schedules was removed during adoption 

of recodification of the City of Graham Code of Ordinances at the Regular Session City 
Council meeting on 11/02/2010.  The Traffic Schedules shall be kept and  maintained 
separately in a City of Graham Traffic Schedule Book by the City Clerk and are no 
longer published in the City of Graham Code of Ordinances.   

 

 

Page 17 of 81



 
 

 

Section 1.  One-Way Streets.1 
 

The streets referred to in section 1 shall be as follows: 

 

Market Street, from Maple Street east to Marshall Street. 

Webster Road, from South Main Street at Rogers Road to Hall Street. 

 

Section 2. U-Turns.2 
 

The streets referred to in section 2 shall be as follows: 

 

At any stop light. 

 

Section 3. Yield Intersections.3 
 

The streets referred to in section 3 shall be as follows: 

 

Forest Drive at Hillcrest Street. 

Forest Drive at West Avenue. 

Gilbreath Street (West) at Holt Avenue (west side). 

Hillcrest Drive at Forest Drive. 

Longest Street at Oakley Street. 

Louis Street at Wiley Street. 

Paris Street at McGee Street (Inner Loop of Boulevard). 

Paris Street at Paris Street (Inner Loop of Boulevard). 

Page 18 of 81



 

2 
 

 

Section 4. Weight Limits on Certain Streets.4 
 

The streets referred to in section 4 shall be as follows: 

 

Albright Avenue--North Main to East Elm. 

Aloha Drive--Rogers Road to Webster Road. 

Banks Street. 

Bill Cooke Park--All streets. 

Blair Street. 

Border Street--Corporate limits to Sideview Street. 

Broadway Drive--Rogers Road to dead end. 

Buckner Street. 

Cameron Road--Town Branch Road to Oakgrove Drive. 

Carraway Drive. 

Climax Street. 

College Street. 

Council Road. 

Darrell Drive. 

Eastway Lane--250 feet from South Main Street to Ivey Road. 

Elm Street (West)--West Harden Street to Maple Street. 

Essex Drive. 

Florence Street--South Main Street to Lorraine Street. 

Franklin Street. 

Gilbreath (West) Street--South Main Street to South Maple Street. 

Gilbreath (West) Street--South Maple Street to end. 

Goley Street--Pine Street to McGee Street. 

Gunter Street--Harden Street to Johnson Avenue. 

Guthrie Street. 

Hall Street--Webster Road to dead end. 

Halsey Street. 

Hillcrest Avenue. 

Holt Avenue. 

Page 19 of 81



 

3 
 

Home Avenue--West Pine Street to Ward Street. 

Home Avenue--West Pine Street to West Elm Street. 

Jefferies Street--River Street to Hanover Road. 

Jefferson Drive. 

Johnson Avenue. 

Jones Street--Pine Street to dead end. 

Kernodle Drive. 

Kingston Lane. 

Kress Drive. 

Lacy Holt Road—Rogers Rd to dead end. 

Longdale Drive. 

Lorraine Street--Florence Street to dead end. 

Maple (North) Street--West Harden Street to North Main. 

Market (West) Street--Maple Street to Mill Street. 

Market (West) Street--Oneida Street to West Elm Street. 

Marshall (South) Street--Pine Street to Gilbreath Street. 

Mayfield Drive. 

McBride Street. 

Melville (South) Street--Elm Street to Gilbreath Street. 

Mendel Terrace. 

Mill Street--West Market Street to College Street. 

Moore Street--Ivey Road to Cornelia Drive. 

Moser Street. 

Nan McCoy Drive. 

North Court. 

North Street--West Harden to Climax Street. 

Oakgrove Drive--East Harden Street to Doggett Drive. 

Oakley Street--West Elm to Providence Road. 

Old Farm Road--South Main Street to Cornelia Drive. 

Oneida Street--Between West Harden Street and West Elm Street. 

Oneida Street--West Market Street to College Street. 

Paris Street. 

Parker Street (West)--North Main Street to Sideview Street. 

Patton Street. 

Page 20 of 81



 

4 
 

Pepperstone Drive. 

Pine (East) Street--Marshall Street to Harden Street. 

Pomeroy Street. 

Poplar Street. 

Ralph Graham Drive. 

Raspberry Run. 

Ridgecrest Drive--Rogers Road to dead end. 

Robin Lane--South Main Street to Apple Street. 

Rockwood Drive both ends. 

Ross Street--East Lane to Cornelia Drive. 

Shakori Hills Drive. 

South Graham Park--All streets. 

Stonehedge Drive 

Sunfield Drive. 

Thompson Road--Monroe Holt Road to dead end. 

Thompson Road--Rogers Road to dead end. 

Trackers Court. 

Ward Street. 

Washington Street--West Harden to Providence Street. 

Weaver Way--Town Branch Road to Oakgrove Drive. 

Webster Road--South Main Street to Hanford Road. 

Wendy Drive. 

West Avenue. 

Westover Street-- 200 feet from South Main Street to South Maple Street. 

Whitsett Street--North Main Street to Buckner Street. 

Wildwood Lane. 

Williamsdale Road. 

Willowview Drive. 

Wilson Street. 

 

Section 5. Parking Prohibited At All Times.5 
 

The streets referred to in section 5  shall be as follows: 

Page 21 of 81



 

5 
 

 

Albright Avenue, north side, for 150 feet from Walker Avenue toward East Elm Street. 

Albright Avenue, north side, from North Main to Walker Avenue. 

Albright Avenue, south side, beginning at a point 425 feet east of North Melville Street for a 
distance of 275 feet. 

Albright Avenue, south side, from Marshall Street west 50 feet. 

Albright Avenue, south side, from Walker Avenue to East Elm Street. 

Alley, entered from north side of Court Square. 

Carter Road, both sides, from Trollinger Road to Town Branch Road. 

Cedar Street, north and south sides, 100 feet from Washington Street east. 

College Street, south side, from North Main to Oneida Street. 

Court Square, east side of the monument. 

Elm Street (East), east side, from Harden Street west 75 feet. 

Elm Street (East), north side, Flannigan Street to Harden Street. 

Elm Street (West), east and west side from West Harden north to city limits. 

Elm Street (West), north side, from Maple Street to Oneida Street. 

Elm Street (West), north side, 100 feet in each direction from intersection with Poplar Street. 

Elm Street (West), north side, 30 feet at Andrews Memorial Church. 

Elm Street (West), south side, between East Harden Street and Home Avenue. 

Elm Street (West), south side, east of Maple Street in front of courthouse annex. 

Elm Street (West), south side, 30 feet from crossover at Andrews Memorial Church. 

Elm Street (West), south side, from Maple Street to Oneida Street. 

Gilbreath Street (West), from South Main Street 210 feet on both sides. 

Goley Street, east side, from McGee Street 30 feet. 

Graham Drive, both sides, from West Elm Street to dead end. 

Harden Street (East), north side, from Main Street to East Elm Street. 

Harden Street (East), south side, from Main Street to East Elm Street. 

Harden Street (West), 50 feet on each side of a point directly across from the center of Randy 
Isley Company driveway, Monday through Friday. 

Harden Street (West), north and south sides, from Maple Street to West Elm Street. 

Harden Street (West), north side, from Maple Street east 140 feet. 

Harden Street (West), south side, from Maple Street east 40 feet. 

Main Street (North), east side from Harden Street north 35 feet. 

Main Street (North), east side from Harden Street south 75 feet. 

Main Street (North), west side from Harden Street south 35 feet. 

Page 22 of 81



 

6 
 

Main Street (North), west side from Harden Street north 25 feet. 

Main Street (South), east side, north from Pine Street  103 feet. 

Main Street (South), east side, south from Pine Street to East Gilbreath Street. 

Main Street (South), west side, north from Pine Street  137 feet. 

Main Street (South), west side,  160 feet from Pine Street to west Gilbreath Street (allowing 
five parking spaces in front of municipal building). 

Maple Street (North), east side, between Market Street and Main Street. 

Maple Street (North), east side, from Harden Street north 150 feet. 

Maple Street (North), east side, from Harden Street south 40 feet. 

Maple Street (North), east side, 20 feet south of Market Street. 

Maple Street (North), west side, between West Market and North Main. 

Maple Street (North), west side, from Harden Street north 175 feet. 

Maple Street (North), west side, from Harden Street south 85 feet. 

Maple Street (North), west side, from Market Street south 115 feet. 

Maple Street (South), east side, from Elm Street south 40 feet. 

Maple Street (South), east side, from McAden Street south 160 feet. 

Maple Street (South), east side, from Pine Street north 40 feet. 

Maple Street (South), west side, from Harden Street south 130 feet. 

Maple Street (South), west side, from Pine Street north 200 feet. 

Market Street, north side, between Maple Street and Main Street. 

Market Street, south side, between Main Street and Marshall Street. 

Market Street south side, west from Maple Street 100 feet. 

Marshall Street, east side, from Harden Street north 50 feet. 

Marshall Street, east side, 90 feet south of Harden Street. 

Marshall Street, west side, from Harden Street north 180 feet. 

Marshall Street, west side, from Harden Street south 130 feet. 

Marshall Street (North), both sides, from Hill Street north 200) feet. 

Marshall Street (South), west side, from Pine Street north 170 feet. 

Marshall Street (South), east side, from Pine Street to E. Elm Street. 

Marshall Street (South), east side, from Pine Street south 200 feet. 

McAden Street, south side, from South Main Street to South Maple Street. 

McClure Street, both sides. 

Melville Street, east side, from Parker Street to Travora Street. 

Melville Street (North), east side, between Albright Street and Harden Street. 

Melville Street (North), east side, from Travora Street to Parker Street. 

Page 23 of 81



 

7 
 

Melville Street (North), west side, between Harden Street and Pine Street. 

Melville Street (South), east side, from Pine Street south 100 feet. 

Morrow Street, both sides, from East Elm Street to Lewis Street. 

Oakgrove Drive, north side, from Weaver Way west to Doggett Drive and from Weaver Way 
east 500 feet. 

Parker Street, from Pomeroy Street to Melville Street. 

Parker Street, south side, from Pomeroy Street 150 feet east. 

Parker Street, south side, from Seymour Street to Walker Avenue. 

Parker Street (East), 200 feet each side of Travora Textiles gate. 

Parker Street (East), north side, from Pomeroy Street to Walker Avenue. 

Parker Street (East), north side, 250 feet east of junction of Pomeroy Street. 

Parker Street (East), south side, from Seymour Street to Melville Street. 

Patton Street, from Longest Street to Providence Road. 

Pepperstone Drive 720’southwest of Lacy Holt Road to the intersection of Chartwell Lane. 
(04-02-2013) 

Pine Street (East), north side, east from Main Street intersection to South Marshall Street. 

Pine Street (East), north side, Melville Street east 130 feet. 

Pine Street (East), south side, Main Street to Melville Street. 

Pine Street (East), south side, Melville Street east 120 feet. 

Pine Street (West), north side, from Maple Street east 120 feet. 

Pine Street (West), north side, from Maple Street west 200 feet. 

Pine Street (West), south side, from Main Street west 210 feet. 

Pine Street (West), south side, from Maple Street west 120 feet. 

Staley Street, west side, from Whitsett Street to end. 

Seymour Street, east and west sides, 125 feet from Parker Street. 

Trollinger Road (east), both sides, from East Elm Street, east eighteen hundred twenty (1,820) 
feet. 

Washington Street, west side, from Providence Street to Border Street. 

Whitsett Street, both sides, from North Main Street west 40 feet. 

Whitsett Street, north side, from North Main Street to New Street. 

Wiley Street, both sides, from East Elm Street to Lewis Street. 

 

Section 6. Parking Prohibited Between 2:00 A.M. and 6:00 A.M.6 
 

Page 24 of 81



 

8 
 

The streets referred to in Section 6 shall be as follows: 

 

East Elm Street, 100 block. 

West Elm Street, 100 block. 

West Harden Street, 100 and 200 blocks. 

North Main Street, 100 and 200 blocks. 

South Main Street, 100 block. 

Any part of the Courthouse Square. 

 

Section 7. Two-Hour Parking, 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M.7 
 

The streets referred to in Section 7 shall be as follows: 

 

Court Square. 

West Elm Street, north side, from Maple Street west 162 feet. 

Elm Street, west from South Maple Street to Court Square. 

Elm Street, east from Court Square to Marshall Street. 

Harden Street, west from South Maple to Main Street. 

Main Street, south from Harden to Court Square. 

Main Street, north from Harden Street to Market Street. 

Main Street, south from Court Square to Pine Street. 

Maple Street, south from West Harden Street to West Elm Street. 

Maple Street (South), north of West Elm Street, 106 feet on east side from the intersection and 
159 feet on west side from the intersection. 

Maple Street, (South), from West Elm Street to Pine Street (both sides of street). 

Maple Street, (South), east side, between McClure Street and West Elm Street. 

Parking lot belonging to the city located in the 100 block of West Elm Street, north side, with 
exit on Maple Street. 

All frontages in said squares, streets or avenues defining said zones shall be included therein. 

 

Section 8. Parking Prohibited Between 8:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M.8 
 

Page 25 of 81



 

9 
 

The streets referred to in Section 8 shall be as follows: 

 

Parking is prohibited between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on the following streets: 

 

Ray Street (west side). 

Trock Wilder Court (both sides of street). 

 

Section 9. Parking Prohibited At Other Times.9 
The streets referred to in Section 9 shall be as follows: 

 

Parking is prohibited at other times on the following street: 

 

Market Street from North Maple Street to North Main Street (Monday--Saturday, both sides). 

 

Section 10. Angle Parking.10 
The streets referred to in Section 10 shall be as follows: 

 

Business section of the city, except the area from Court Square south on South Main Street and 
the south side of East Elm Street from Court Square to Marshall Street. 

North Main Street, from Harden Street to Market Street. 

 

 

Section 11. Loading Zones; Handicap Parking.11 
 
The streets referred to in Section 11 shall be as follows: 
 

Court Square, northwest corner. 

Court Square, southwest corner. 

East Elm Street, north side, sixty-eight (68) feet from the northeast corner of Court Square and 
East Elm Street to a twenty-two-foot loading zone. 

East Elm Street, one space in center of street between Court Square and North Marshall Street. 

Page 26 of 81



 

10 
 

West Elm Street, north side, 40 feet from intersection of South Maple Street and West Elm 
Street (one space). 

West Elm Street, south side between points 100 feet from the western margin of Court Square 
and one hundred eighteen (118) feet from the western margin of Court Square. 

West Harden Street, south side, one hundred six (106) feet from the southwest corner of North 
Main and Harden Street to a thirty-nine-foot loading zone. 

North Main Street from the center between the alley on the east side and Harden Street. 

South Main Street, west side, between the points one hundred forty-eight (148) feet south of 
the southwest corner of Court Square and one hundred fifty-nine (159) feet from the northwest 
corner of South Main Street and Pine Street. One space loading zone. 

Reserved parking spaces: 

Court Square, four parking spaces on west side of monument, for use of the county sheriff's 
department official automobiles only. 

Court Square, one space, west side, for handicapped. 

South Maple Street, one space, with ramp, east side (first parking space adjacent to Court 
House annex). 

 

Section 12. Stop Intersections.12 
 
The streets referred to in Section 12 shall be as follows: 

 

The streets referred to in Stop Intersection Section shall be as follows: 

 

1200 Block Branson Drive at Carraway Drive. 

Achonechy Trail at Haynoke Drive. 

Adil Court at Thompson Road. 

Albright Avenue at Elm Street. 

Albright Avenue at North Main Street. 

Albright Avenue at Walker Avenue (four-way). 

Allen Street at North Marshall Street. 

Allen Street at Pomeroy Street. 

Aloha Drive at Rogers Road. 

Aloha Drive at Webster Road. 

Andrews Avenue at South Main Street. 

Anniston's Court at Trail's End Drive. 

Page 27 of 81



 

11 
 

Apple Street at East Gilbreath Street. 

Ardmore Street at Pomeroy Street. 

Ashburn Drive at Oakgrove Drive. 

Ashburn Drive at Weaver Way. 

Aspen Court at Old Farm Drive. 

Baldwin Road at East Gilbreath Street (west). 

Banks Street at Home Avenue (east and west). 

Banks Street at South Maple Street. 

Banks Street at Ward Street (north and south). 

Banks Street at Wilson Street. 

Barn Owl Avenue at Old Fields Boulevard. 

Barn Owl Avenue at Jersey Street. 

Bibury Court at Raspberry Run. 

Blair Street at Rogers Road. 

Border Street at North Street (east and west). 

Border Street at Oakley Street (east and west). 

Border Street at Sideview Street. 

Border Street at Washington Street. 

Bowling Street at Cannon Street. 

Bowling Street at Shoffner Street. 

Branson Drive at Carraway Drive (north and south). 

Brax Court at Darrell Drive. 

Broadway Drive at Rogers Road. 

Brookgreen Terrace at Oakgrove Drive. 

Bruce Turney Road at South Main Street. 

Buckner Street at Providence Road. 

Bullis Street at South Main Street. 

Burke Street at Parker Street. 

Burton Street at Home Avenue (east and west). 

Burton Street at West Harden Street. 

Burton Street at West Pine Street. 

Cadbury Court at Castle Drive. 

Cameron Road at Oakgrove Drive (four-way). 

Cameron Road at Orchard Drive. 

Page 28 of 81



 

12 
 

Cameron Road at Town Branch Road. 

Cannon Street at Pomeroy Street. 

Carraway Drive at Rogers Road. 

Carter Road at Town Branch Road. 

Carter Road at Trollinger Road. 

Castle Drive at Longdale Drive. 

Castle Drive at Stonehedge Drive. 

Cates Circle at Parker Street. 

Cedar Street at Oneida Street. 

Cedar Street at Washington Street. 

Challenge Drive at Townbranch Road. 

Chartwell Lane at Pepperstone Drive. 

Checker Street at Providence Road. 

Cheeks Lane at Andrews Avenue. 

Clapp Street at Sycamore Road. 

Climax Street at Buckner Street. 

Climax Street at North Main Street. 

Climax Street at Oakley Street (four-way). 

Climax Street at Washington Street (east and west). 

College Street at Main Street. 

College Street at Washington Street. 

Colonial Drive at E. Harden Street. 

Compton Court at Carraway Drive. 

Cornelia Drive at Moore Street (east and west). 

Cornelia Drive at Old Farm Drive. 

Cornelia Drive at Old Farm Road. 

Council Drive at Lacy Holt Road. 

Covington Loop at Pepperstone Drive (both ends). 

Creek Bend Court at Covington Loop. 

Crescent Square Drive at Hanford Road. 

Crescent Square Drive at South Main Street. 

Cullens Drive at Lacy Holt Road. 

Darrell Drive at Monroe Holt Road. 

Davis lane at East Gilbreath Street. 

Page 29 of 81



 

13 
 

Doggett Drive at Clapp Street. 

Doggett Drive at Oakgrove Drive. 

Doggett Drive at Sycamore Road (north and south). 

Eastway Lane at Ivey Street. 

Eastway Lane at South Main Street. 

Eden Court at Eastway Lane. 

Elmwood Drive at Rockwood Drive. 

Enfield Drive at West Gilbreath Street. 

Eric Drive at Rockwood Drive. 

Eric Drive at Wendy Drive. 

Essex Drive at Ivey Road. 

Fairfield Drive at Pepperstone Drive. 

Field Street at East Gilbreath Street. 

Field Street at East McAden Street. 

Flannigan Street at East Elm Street. 

Flannigan Street at East Harden Street. 

Florence Street at South Main Street. 

Flower Street at East Elm Street. 

Franklin Street at West Harden Street. 

Franklin Street at Banks Street. 

Gant Road at West Moore Street. 

Gates Avenue at Enfield Drive. 

Gates Avenue at Holt Avenue. 

Gilbreath Street (West) at South Maple Street (east and west). 

Glenn Drive at South Main Street. 

Goley Street at East Pine Street. 

Governor Scott Farm Road at Cherry Lane. 

Graham Drive at Elm Street. 

Granada Lane at Ridgecrest Drive. 

Grandview Drive at Palmer Drive. 

Grandview Drive at Spring Meadow Drive. 

Greenview Drive at Pepperstone Drive (north and south). 

Green Street at Gilbreath Street (west). 

Green Street at Holt Street. 

Page 30 of 81



 

14 
 

Gunter Street at East Harden Street (Highway 54). 

Gunter Street at Johnson Avenue. 

Hall Street at Aloha Drive (north and south). 

Hall Street at Webster Road. 

Halsey Street at Patton Street. 

Hanford Road at South Main Street. 

Hannah Court at Nina Drive. 

Hanson Lane at Grandview Drive. 

Haynoke Drive at Shakori Hills Drive. 

Hertford Lane at Old Farm Drive. 

Hill Street at North Main Street. 

Hill Street at North Marshall Street (four-way). 

Hill Street at North Melville Street. 

Hill Street at Walker Avenue. 

Hillcrest Drive at Moore Street. 

Hollow Street at Parker Street. 

Hollow Street at South Main Street. 

Hollow Street at Water Street. 

Holt Avenue at Banks Street (north and south). 

Holt Avenue at Gilbreath Street (west). 

Holt Avenue at Pine Street. 

Holt Avenue at South Maple Street. 

Holt Avenue at Ward Street (north and south). 

Home Avenue at Banks Street. 

Home Avenue at Ward Street. 

Home Avenue at West Elm Street. 

Home Avenue at West Pine Street (north and south). 

Ingold Drive at Gant Road. 

Ivey Road at East Gilbreath Street (east and west). 

Ivey Road at East Harden Street (west). 

Ivey Street at South Main Street. 

Jay Lane at Riverbend Road. 

Jefferies Street at Hanover Road. 

Joe Court at Sally Drive. 

Page 31 of 81



 

15 
 

Johnson Avenue at East Harden Street (Highway 54). 

Johnson Avenue at Goley Street. 

Johnson Avenue at Jones Street (east and west). 

Jones Street at East Pine Street. 

Kaney Drive at Mackenna Drive. 

Kelly Street at Hanover Road. 

Kernodle Drive at Moser Street. 

Kernodle Drive at Parker Street. 

Kingston Lane at South Main Street. 

Kingwood Court at Kingston Lane. 

Knight Court and Kingston Lane. 

Knightbridge Court at Raspbury Run. 

Kress Street and Lacy Holt (3 way stop) 

Kress Street at Mayfield Drive. 

Lacy Holt Road at Rogers Rd. 

Lacy Holt at Kress Drive (3 way stop). 

Lacy Holt at Sunfield Drive (3 way stop). 

Larry Avenue at East Parker Street (north and south). 

Lashley Street at College Street. 

Lashley Street at Guthrie Street. 

Lemontree Court at Moore Street. 

Linens Street at Cannon Street. 

Little Creek Drive at Meadowview Drive. 

Long Avenue at North Marshall Street. 

Long Avenue at North Melville Street (east and west). 

Longdale Drive at Noah Road (north and south). 

Longdale Drive at Sally Drive (four-way). 

Longdale Drive at Valley Drive. 

Longest Street at Washington Street. 

Lorraine Street at Webster Road (north and south). 

Mackenna Drive at Lacy Holt Road. 

Macoy Drive at Aspenwood Drive. 

Macoy Drive at Ralph Graham Drive. 

Main Street (North) at Providence Road. 

Page 32 of 81



 

16 
 

Marion Street at Hall Street. 

Marion Street at Lorraine Street. 

Market Street at North Street (four-way). 

Market Street (East) at Marshall Street. 

Market Street (West) at East Elm Street. 

Market Street (West) at intersection of North Maple Street. 

Market Street (West) at Main Street. 

Market Street (West) at Washington Street (four-way). 

Marshall Street at Parker Street. 

Marshall Street (South) at East Gilbreath Street. 

Marshall Street (South) at East McAden Street. 

Matthew Court at Eric Drive. 

McAden Street at South Main Street (east and west). 

McAden Street at South Maple Street. 

McAden Street (East) at South Marshall Street (east and west). 

McAden Street (East) at South Melville Street (east and west). 

McBride Street at Banks Street (north and south). 

McBride Street at Pine Street. 

McBride Street at Ward Street. 

McClure Avenue at Pine Street. 

McClure Avenue at South Maple Street. 

McGee Street at Jones Street (east and west). 

McGee Street at Paris Street. 

McLesky Court at Branson Drive. 

Meadow Green Drive at Little Creek Drive. 

Meadow Green Drive at Wildwood Lane (north and south). 

Meadowview Drive at Wildwood Lane. 

Melville Street at Elm Street (north and south). 

Melville Street at Parker Street. 

Melville Street at Robin Lane. 

Melville Street at Albright Avenue (four-way). 

Melville Street (North) at East Harden Street (north and south). 

Melville Street (South) at East Gilbreath (north and south). 

Mendel Terrace at Moser Street. 

Page 33 of 81



 

17 
 

Mendel Terrace at Parker Street. 

Middle School Drive at Goley Street. 

Middle School Drive at Pine Street. 

Mill Street at Guthrie Street. 

Mill Street at Market Street. 

Montree Lane at Ross Street. 

Moore Street at Ivey Road. 

Moore Street at Rogers Road. 

Moore Street at South Main Street. 

Morrow Street at East Elm Street. 

Moser Street at North Melville Street. 

Moser Street at Walker Avenue (east and west) 

Myrtle Drive at Larry Avenue. 

Myrtle Drive at Parker Street. 

Nan McCoy Drive at Branson Drive. 

Nan McCoy Drive at Rogers Road. 

Natalie Drive at Eric Drive. 

New Street at East Parker Street (north and south). 

New Street at Water Street. 

Nina Drive at Thompson Road. 

North Court at North Street. 

North Court at West Elm Street. 

North Street at Border Street (north and south). 

North Street at Climax Street. 

North Street at College Street (north and south). 

North Street at Poplar Street (north and south). 

North Street at West Harden. 

North Street at West Market (four-way). 

North Street at Whitsett Street (north and south). 

Oak Street at North Street (east and west.) 

Oak Street at Oakley Street. 

Oak Street at Washington Street. 

Oakgrove Drive at Cameron Road (four-way). 

Oakgrove Drive at Doggett Drive. 

Page 34 of 81



 

18 
 

Oakgrove Drive at East Harden Street (Highway 54). 

Oakgrove Drive at Weaver Way. 

Oakley Street at Border Street (north and south). 

Oakley Street at Climax Street (four-way). 

Oakley Street at Longest Street. 

Oakley Street at Poplar Street (north and south). 

Oakley Street at Providence Street (north and south). 

Oakwood Lane at Goley Street. 

Oakwood Lane at Jones Street. 

Old Farm Court at Old Farm Drive. 

Old Farm Drive at South Main Street. 

Olde Quarry Road at Hanford Road. 

Oneida Street at College Street. 

Oneida Street at Guthrie Street (north and south). 

Oneida Street at Poplar Street (north and south). 

Oneida Street at West Elm Street. 

Oneida Street at West Harden Street (north and south). 

Oneida Street at West Market Street (north and south). 

Orchard Drive at Brookgreen Terrace. 

Orchard Drive at Oakgrove Drive. 

Orchard Drive at Sycamore Road (north and south). 

Palmetto Court at Southwood Drive. 

Palmer Drive at Ridgecrest Drive. 

Palmer Drive at Wildwood Lane (north and south). 

Paris Street at Johnson Street. 

Paris Street at Jones Street (four-way). 

Park Drive at McGee Street. 

Parker Street at Sideview Street. 

Parker Street (East) at Highway 49 (East Elm Street). 

Patton Street at Longest Street. 

Patton Street at Providence Road. 

Pepperstone Drive at Lacy Holt Road. 

Pinecrest Court at Covington Loop. 

Pineland Drive at Interstate Service Road. 

Page 35 of 81



 

19 
 

Pine Street (East) at East Harden Street (Highway 54). 

Pine Street (West) at West Harden Street (Highway 54). 

Pomeroy Street at Hill Street. 

Poplar Street at Mill Street. 

Poplar Street at Washington Street (east and west). 

Poplar Street at West Elm Street. 

Prytle Drive at Hanover Road. 

Quincy Court at Pyrtle Drive. 

Ralph Graham Drive at Aspenwood Drive. 

Ralph Graham Drive at Monroe Holt Road. 

Ralph Scott Road at Jimmy Kerry Road. 

Raspberry Ridge Road at East Harden Street. 

Raspberry Run at East Harden Street. 

Raven Court at Castle Drive. 

Ray Street at East Gilbreath Street. 

Ridgecrest Street at Broadway Drive. 

Ridgecrest Street at Rogers Road. 

Ridgecrest Street at Wedgewood Drive. 

River Street at Parker Street. 

River Street at Pomeroy Street (east and west). 

River Street at Washington Street. 

Robbie Court at Wendy Drive. 

Robin Lane at South Main Street. 

Rockwood Drive at Darrell Drive (four-way). 

Rockwood Drive at Monroe Holt Road. 

Rockwood Drive at Rogers Road. 

Rogers Court at Lacy Holt Road. 

Ross Street at Cornelia Drive. 

Ross Street at Eastway Lane. 

Ross Street at Ivey Road (north and south). 

Sadia Trace at Thompson Road. 

Sania Court at Thompson Road. 

Scott Street at Washington Street. 

Seymour Street at Parker Street. 

Page 36 of 81



 

20 
 

Seymour Street at Travora Street. 

Shakori Hills Drive at East Gilbreath Street. 

Sideview Street at Climax Street. 

Sideview Street at College Street. 

Single Tree Circle at Stanchion Street (north and south). 

Small Avenue at Hanover Road. 

Sonja Court at Wendy Drive. 

Southerland Street at Hanover Road. 

Southwood Court at Southwood Drive. 

Southwood Drive at Old Farm Drive. 

Spring Meadow Drive at Little Creek Drive. 

Spring Meadow Drive at Wildwood Lane. 

Staley Street at Whitsett Street (east). 

Stanchion Street at Old Fields Boulevard. 

Stokes Road at Oakgrove Drive. 

Stokes Road at Orchard Drive. 

Stonegate Drive at Thompson Road. 

Stonegate Drive at Williamsdale Road. 

Stonehedge Drive at Noah Road. 

Sunberry Drive at Council Road. 

Sunfield Drive at Mayfield Drive 

Sunfield Drive at Lacy Holt Road (3 way stop) 

Sycamore Road at Oakgrove Drive. 

Teer Road at Riverbend Road. 

Teer Road at Town Branch Road. 

Terrell Street at Old Farm Drive. 

Thompson Road at Broadway Drive. 

Thompson Road at Monroe Holt Road. 

Thompson Road at Rogers Road. 

Thompson Road at Stonegate Drive. 

Thompson Road at Williamsdale Road. 

Todd Street at Florence Street. 

Todd Street at Webster Road. 

Tonewood Court at Darrell Drive. 

Page 37 of 81



 

21 
 

Town Branch Road at East Elm Street. 

Trail's End Drive at Thompson Road (north and south). 

Trackers Court at Sunfield Drive. 

Travora Street at Melville Street (east and west). 

Travora Street at North Marshall Street (east and west). 

Travora Street at Pomeroy Street. 

Travora Street at Walker Avenue. 

Trock Wilder Court at Trollinger Road. 

Trollinger Road at East Elm Street. 

Truby Drive at Jimmy Kerr Road. 

Tysor Circle at Orchard Drive. 

Villa Drive at Hanford Road. 

Vincent Drive at Hanover Road. 

Vincent Drive at Quincy Court. 

Walker Avenue at East Elm Street. 

Walker Avenue at Moser Street (four-way) 

Walker Avenue at Parker Street. 

Ward Street at Denny Circle. 

Ward Street at Home Avenue.  

Ward Street at Maple Street. 

Washington Street at Market Street (four-way). 

Washington Street at Poplar Street (north and south). 

Washington Street at West Harden Street. 

Water Street at North Main Street. 

Water Street at Pomeroy Street. 

Weaver Way at Doggett Drive. 

Weaver Way at Oakgrove Drive (north and south). 

Weaver Way at Town Branch Road. 

Webster Road at Hanford Road. 

Wendy Drive at Monroe-Holt Road. 

Wentworth Drive at Moser Street. 

Wentworth Drive at Travora Street. 

West Avenue at South Main Street. 

West Market Street at West Elm Street. 

Page 38 of 81



 

22 
 

Westover Street at South Main Street. 

Westover Street at South Maple Street. 

White Street at Cannon Street. 

White Street at Parker Street. 

Whitsett Street at Buckner Street. 

Whitsett Street at New Street. 

Whitsett Street at North Main Street (east and west). 

Whitsett Street at Oakley Street (east and west). 

Whitsett Street at Sideview Street (east and west). 

Whitsett Street at Washington Street (east and west). 

Wildwood Lane at Broadway Drive (east and west). 

Wildwood Lane at Rogers Road. 

Wiley Street at East Elm Street. 

Williamsdale Road at Rogers Road. 

Willowview Drive at Lacy Holt Road. 

Willowview Drive at Sunberry Drive (north and south). 

Wilson Street at Ward Street (north and south). 

Wilson Street at West Harden Street. 

Wilton Drive at Aloha Road. 

Winchester Drive at Castle Drive. 

Winesap Drive at Terrell Street. 

Woodland Drive at Elmwood Drive. 

Woodland Drive at Rockwood Drive. 

Woody Drive at East Gilbreath Street. 

Woody Drive at East Harden Street (west). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39 of 81



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Index: 
 

Achonechy Trail........................................ 13 
Adil Court ................................................. 13 
Albright Avenue.......................... 2, 5, 13, 20 
Albright Street ............................................. 8 
Allen Street ......................................... 13, 14 
Aloha Drive ..................................... 2, 14, 17 
Aloha Road ............................................... 27 
Andrews Avenue ................................. 14, 15 
Angle Parking ........................................... 12 
Anniston's Court ....................................... 14 
Apple Street .......................................... 4, 14 
Ardmore Street .......................................... 14 
Ashburn Drive ........................................... 14 
Aspen Court .............................................. 14 
Aspenwood Drive ............................... 19, 23 
Baldwin Road............................................ 14 
Banks Street ........................ 2, 14, 17, 18, 20 
Banks Street. ............................................. 18 

Barn Owl Avenue ..................................... 14 
Bibury Court ............................................. 14 
Bill Cooke Park ........................................... 2 
Blair Street ............................................ 2, 14 
Border Street ....................... 2, 10, 14, 21, 22 
Bowling Street .......................................... 14 
Branson Drive ......................... 13, 14, 20, 21 
Brax Court ................................................. 14 
Broadway Drive .................. 2, 14, 23, 25, 26 
Brookgreen Terrace ............................ 14, 22 
Bruce Turney Road ................................... 14 
Buckner Street ............................. 2, 5, 15, 26 
Bullis Street ............................................... 15 
Burke Street .............................................. 15 
Burton Street ............................................. 15 
Cadbury Court ........................................... 15 
Cameron Road ................................ 2, 15, 21 
Cannon Street .......................... 14, 15, 19, 26 

Page 40 of 81



 

 
 

Carraway Drive ......................... 2, 13, 14, 15 
Carter Road ........................................... 6, 15 
Castle Drive .................................. 15, 23, 27 
Cates Circle ............................................... 15 
Cedar Street ........................................... 6, 15 
Challenge Drive ........................................ 15 
Chartwell Lane .......................................... 15 
Checker Street ........................................... 15 
Cheeks Lane .............................................. 15 
Cherry Lane .............................................. 17 
Clapp Street ......................................... 15, 16 
Climax Street .................. 2, 4, 15, 21, 22, 24 
College Street .... 2, 3, 4, 6, 15, 19, 21, 22, 24 
Colonial Drive ........................................... 15 
Compton Court.......................................... 15 
Cornelia Drive ................................. 4, 16, 24 
Council Drive ............................................ 16 
Council Road ........................................ 2, 25 
Court Square ................... 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, 13 
Covington Loop .................................. 16, 23 
Creek Bend Court ..................................... 16 
Crescent Square Drive .............................. 16 
Cullens Drive ............................................ 16 
Darrell Drive ....................... 2, 14, 16, 24, 25 
Davis lane.................................................. 16 
Denny Circle ............................................. 25 
Doggett Drive........................ 4, 9, 16, 21, 26 
East Elm 2, 5, 6, 9, 10, 12, 16, 19, 21, 22, 25, 

27 
East Gilbreath... 7, 14, 16, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 

27 
East Lane ..................................................... 4 
East McAden Street ............................ 16, 20 
Eastway Lane .................................. 2, 16, 24 
Eden Court ................................................ 16 
Elm Street. 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 17, 

18, 20, 21, 22, 23, 26 
Elmwood Drive ................................... 16, 27 
Enfield Drive ....................................... 16, 17 
Eric Drive ...................................... 16, 20, 21 
Essex Drive ........................................... 2, 16 
Fairfield Drive ........................................... 16 
Field Street ................................................ 16 
Flannigan Street .................................... 6, 16 
Florence Street ............................ 2, 3, 16, 25 
Forest Drive ................................................ 0 

Franklin Street ....................................... 2, 17 
Gant Road ........................................... 17, 18 
Gates Avenue ............................................ 17 
Gilbreath (West) Street ............................... 2 
Gilbreath Street 0, 3, 6, 7, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 

23, 24, 27 
Glenn Drive ............................................... 17 
Goley Street .................... 3, 6, 17, 18, 20, 22 
Governor Scott Farm Road ....................... 17 
Graham Drive........................................ 6, 17 
Granada Lane ............................................ 17 
Grandview Drive ....................................... 17 
Green Street .............................................. 17 
Greenview Drive ....................................... 17 
Gunter Street ......................................... 3, 17 
Guthrie Street ............................ 3, 19, 21, 22 
Hall Street ................................... 0, 3, 17, 19 
Halsey Street ......................................... 3, 17 
Hanford Road ................ 5, 16, 17, 22, 25, 26 
Hannah Court ............................................ 17 
Hanover Road ..................... 3, 18, 23, 24, 25 
Hanson Lane ............................................. 17 
Harden Street ... 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22, 23, 26, 27 
Haynoke Drive .................................... 13, 17 
Hertford Lane ............................................ 17 
Hill Street ........................................ 8, 17, 23 
Hillcrest Avenue ......................................... 3 
Hillcrest Drive ....................................... 0, 18 
Hillcrest Street ............................................ 0 
Hollow Street ............................................ 18 
Holt Avenue ................................ 0, 3, 17, 18 
Holt Street ................................................. 17 
Home Avenue ....................... 3, 6, 14, 15, 18 
Home Avenue. .......................................... 26 
Ingold Drive .............................................. 18 
Interstate Service Road ............................. 23 
Ivey Road ........................ 2, 4, 16, 18, 21, 24 
Ivey Street ........................................... 16, 18 
Jay Lane .................................................... 18 
Jefferies Street ....................................... 3, 18 
Jefferson Drive ............................................ 3 
Jersey Street .............................................. 14 
Jimmy Kerr Road ...................................... 25 
Jimmy Kerry Road .................................... 23 
Joe Court ................................................... 18 

Page 41 of 81



 

 
 

Johnson Avenue .............................. 3, 17, 18 
Johnson Street ........................................... 22 
Jones Street ............................... 3, 18, 20, 22 
Kaney Drive .............................................. 18 
Kelly Street ............................................... 18 
Kernodle Drive ...................................... 3, 18 
Kingston Lane ....................................... 3, 18 
Kingwood Court........................................ 18 
Knight Court ............................................. 18 
Knightbridge Court ................................... 19 
Kress Drive…………………………....3, 15 
Lacy Holt Road ... 3,15,16, 19, 20, 23, 24, 27 
Larry Avenue ...................................... 19, 21 
Lashley Street ............................................ 19 
Lemontree Court ....................................... 19 
Lewis Street. ......................................... 9, 10 
Linens Street ............................................. 19 
Little Creek Drive ......................... 19, 20, 24 
Loading Zones; Handicap Parking............ 12 
Long Avenue ............................................. 19 
Longdale Drive ............................... 3, 15, 19 
Longest Street ............................. 0, 9, 19, 22 
Lorraine Street .................................. 2, 3, 19 
Louis Street ................................................. 0 
Mackenna Drive .................................. 18, 19 
Macoy Drive ............................................. 19 
Main Street ... 0, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 
26 

Maple (North) Street ................................... 3 
Maple Street . 0, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20, 26 
Marion Street ............................................ 19 
Market (West) Street ................................... 3 
Market Street 0, 3, 4, 7, 8, 11, 12, 19, 21, 22, 

26 
Marshall (South) Street ............................... 3 
Marshall Street ... 0, 4, 5, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 17, 

19, 20, 25 
Marshall Street. ................. 0, 8, 9, 11, 13, 19 
Matthew Court .......................................... 20 
Mayfield Drive ................................ 3, 15, 20 
McAden Street ...................................... 8, 20 
McBride Street ...................................... 3, 20 
McClure Avenue ....................................... 20 
McClure Street ...................................... 8, 11 

McGee Street .......................... 0, 3, 6, 20, 22 
McLesky Court ......................................... 20 
Meadow Green .......................................... 20 
Meadowview Drive ............................. 19, 20 
Melville (South) Street ................................ 3 
Melville Street ....... 5, 8, 9, 17, 19, 20, 21, 25 
Mendel Terrace ..................................... 3, 20 
Mill Street ....................................... 3, 21, 23 
Monroe Holt Road .............. 5, 16, 23, 24, 25 
Monroe-Holt Road .................................... 26 
Montree Lane ............................................ 21 
Moore Street.................. 4, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21 
Morrow Street ....................................... 9, 21 
Moser Street ........................ 4, 18, 20, 21, 26 
Myrtle Drive.............................................. 21 
Nan McCoy Drive ................................. 4, 21 
Natalie Drive ............................................. 21 
New Street ..................................... 10, 21, 26 
Nina Drive ........................................... 17, 21 
Noah Road .......................................... 19, 25 
North Court ........................................... 4, 21 
North Main 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 12, 13, 15, 17, 

26 
North Street ............................... 4, 14, 19, 21 
Oak Street.................................................. 21 
Oakgrove Drive 2, 4, 5, 9, 14, 15, 16, 21, 22, 

24, 25, 26 
Oakgrove Drive. ........ 2, 5, 14, 16, 22, 24, 25 
Oakley Street ............. 0, 4, 14, 15, 21, 22, 26 
Oakwood Lane .......................................... 22 
Old Farm Court ......................................... 22 
Old Farm Drive. .......... 14, 16, 17, 22, 24, 25 
Old Farm Road ...................................... 4, 16 
Old Fields Boulevard .......................... 14, 24 
Olde Quarry Road ..................................... 22 
Oneida Street ........................... 3, 4, 6, 15, 22 
One-Way Streets ......................................... 0 
Orchard Drive ......................... 15, 22, 24, 25 
Palmer Drive ....................................... 17, 22 
Palmetto Court .......................................... 22 
Paris Street .................................. 0, 4, 20, 22 
Park Drive ................................................. 22 
Parker Street ... 4, 8, 9, 10, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21, 

22, 23, 24, 25, 26 
Parking Prohibited At Other Times .......... 12 

Page 42 of 81



 

 
 

Parking Prohibited Between 8:00 A.M. and 
5:00 P.M ................................................ 11 

Patton Street .......................... 4, 9, 17, 22, 23 
Pepperstone Drive ........... 4, 9, 15, 16, 17, 23 
Pine (East) Street ......................................... 4 
Pine Street .. 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 15, 17, 18, 

20, 23 
Pinecrest Court .......................................... 23 
Pineland Drive .......................................... 23 
Pomeroy Street .......... 4, 9, 14, 15, 23, 25, 26 
Poplar Street .................... 4, 6, 21, 22, 23, 26 
Providence Road ................... 4, 9, 15, 19, 23 
Providence Street ............................ 5, 10, 22 
Prytle Drive ............................................... 23 
Quincy Court ....................................... 23, 25 
Ralph Graham Drive ....................... 4, 19, 23 
Ralph Scott Road ...................................... 23 
Raspberry Ridge Road .............................. 23 
Raspberry Run ................................ 4, 14, 23 
Raspbury Run............................................ 19 
Raven Court .............................................. 23 
Ray Street ............................................ 11, 23 
Ridgecrest Drive ............................. 4, 17, 22 
Ridgecrest Street ....................................... 23 
River Street ........................................... 3, 23 
Riverbend Road .................................. 18, 25 
Robbie Court ............................................. 23 
Robin Lane ...................................... 4, 20, 23 
Rockwood Drive ....................... 4, 16, 24, 27 
Rogers Court ............................................. 24 
Rogers Road 0, 2, 4, 5, 14, 15, 21, 23, 24, 25, 

26, 27 
Ross Street ...................................... 4, 21, 24 
Sadia Trace ................................................ 24 
Sally Drive .......................................... 18, 19 
Sania Court................................................ 24 
Scott Street ................................................ 24 
Seymour Street ................................ 9, 10, 24 
Shakori Hills Drive ......................... 4, 17, 24 
Sideview Street ............... 2, 4, 14, 22, 24, 26 
Single Tree Circle ..................................... 24 
Small Avenue ............................................ 24 
Sonja Court ............................................... 24 
South Graham Park ..................................... 4 
South Main Street ....................................... 2 
Southerland Street ..................................... 24 

Southwood Court ...................................... 24 
Southwood Drive ................................ 22, 24 
Spring Meadow Drive ......................... 17, 24 
Staley Street ........................................ 10, 24 
Stanchion Street ........................................ 24 
Stokes Road .............................................. 24 
Stonegate Drive ................................... 24, 25 
Stonehedge Drive ............................ 4, 15, 25 
Stop Intersections ...................................... 13 
Sunberry Drive .................................... 25, 27 
Sunfield Drive ............................ 4, 15, 20,21 
Sycamore Road ....................... 15, 16, 22, 25 
Trackers Court ...................................... 4, 21 
Teer Road .................................................. 25 
Terrell Street ....................................... 25, 27 
Thompson Road .................. 5, 13, 21, 24, 25 
Todd Street ................................................ 25 
Tonewood Court ....................................... 25 
Town Branch Road ........... 2, 5, 6, 15, 25, 26 
Townbranch Road ..................................... 15 
Trail's End Drive ................................. 14, 25 
Travora Street ........................ 8, 9, 24, 25, 26 
Trock Wilder Court ............................. 11, 25 
Trollinger Road ......................... 6, 10, 15, 25 
Truby Drive ............................................... 25 
Tysor Circle .............................................. 25 
U-Turns ....................................................... 0 
Valley Drive .............................................. 19 
Villa Drive ................................................ 25 
Vincent Drive ............................................ 25 
Walker Avenue ............... 5, 9, 13, 17, 21, 25 
Ward Street ......... 3, 5, 14, 18, 20, 25, 26, 27 
Washington Street .... 5, 6, 10, 14, 15, 19, 21, 

23, 24, 26 
Water Street .................................. 18, 21, 26 
Weaver Way .......................... 5, 9, 14, 21, 26 
Webster Road .... 0, 2, 3, 5, 14, 17, 19, 25, 26 
Wedgewood Drive .................................... 23 
Weight Limits on Certain Streets ............ 2, 2 
Wendy Drive ....................... 5, 16, 23, 24, 26 
Wentworth Drive ...................................... 26 
West Avenue ..................................... 0, 5, 26 
West Avenue. .............................................. 0 
West Elm .... 3, 4, 6, 7, 10, 11, 13, 18, 21, 22, 

23, 26 
West Elm Street ........................................ 13 

Page 43 of 81



 

 
 

West Harden . 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 11, 13, 15, 17, 
21, 22, 23, 26, 27 

West Market ...................... 3, 4, 7, 21, 22, 26 
Westover Street ..................................... 5, 26 
White Street .............................................. 26 
Whitsett ............................... 5, 10, 21, 24, 26 
Wildwood Lane ................... 5, 20, 22, 24, 26 
Wiley Street .................................... 0, 10, 27 
Williamsdale Road .................... 5, 24, 25, 27 

Willowview Drive ................................. 5, 27 
Wilson Street ................................... 5, 14, 27 
Wilton Drive ............................................. 27 
Winchester Drive ...................................... 27 
Winesap Drive .......................................... 27 
Woodland Drive ........................................ 27 
Woody Drive ............................................. 27 
Yield Intersections. ................................. 0, 0 

 
  

Page 44 of 81



 

 
 

References: 

1 One-Way Streets. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule VIII; Code 1983, § 7-151; Ord. of 6-7-1983; Ord. of 
 6-2-1987; Ord. of 10-6-1988; Recodification removal from the City of Graham Code of  Ord.12-
 07-2010). 

2 U-turns. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule XIII; Code 1983, § 7-152; Recodification removal from the City 
 of Graham Code of Ord.1\21-07-2010) 
 

3 Yield Intersections. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule XV; Code 1983, § 7-153; Ord. of 8-1-1978; Ord. of 
 11-4-1980; Ord. of 12-7-1982; Ord. of 1-3-1984; Ord. of 10-2-1984; Ord. of 10-1-1985; Ord. of 
 6-2-1987; Ord. of 8-4-1987; Ord. of 5-3-1988; Ord. of 11-1-1988; Ord. of 7-10-1990; Ord. of 12-
 4-1990; Ord. of 9-6-1994(2);  Ord. of 12-6-1994(1); Ord. of 7-11-1995(2); Ord. of 9-4-
 1996(1); Ord. of 6-5-2001(1) Recodification  removal from the City of Graham Code of 
 Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

4 Weight Limits on Certain Streets.  (Code 1978, ch. E, art. VII, § 6; Code 1983, § 7-154; Ord. of 5-1-
 1979; Ord. of 10-6-1981; Ord. of 9-7-1982; Ord. of 10-5-1982; Ord. of 11-1-1983; Ord. of 5-7-
 1985; Ord. of 7-2-1985;Ord. of 6-5-1990; Ord. of 2-5-1991; Ord. of 8-4-1992; Ord. of 3-7-1995; 
 Ord. of 8-3-1999(1); Ord. of 3-7-2000; Ord. of 6-6-2000; Ord. of 8-7-2001; Ord. of 2-4-2003; 
 Ord. of 10-3-2006; Ord. of 2-6-2007; Ord. of 3-6-2007; Ord. of 3-4-2008; Recodification removal 
 from the City of Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

5 Parking Prohibited At All Times. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule I; Code 1983, § 7-155; Ord. of 10-2-
 1979; Ord. of 10-6-1981; Ord. of 7-6-1982; Ord. of 8-3-1982; Ord. of 2-1-1983; Ord. of 7-12-
 1983; Two Ords. of 5-3- 1983; Ord. of 9-27-1983; Ord. of 10-4-1983; Ord. of 2-4-1986; Ord. of 
 6-2-1987; Ord. of 5-3-1988; Ord. of  12-6-1988; Ord. of 12-3-1991; Ord. of 7-6-1993; Ord. of 
 9-6-1994(1); Ord. of 6-3-1997; Ord. of 8-3- 1999(2); Ord. of 3-6-2001; Ord. of 6-5-2001(1); 
 Ord. of 4-2-2002; Ord. of 1-2-2007; Ord. of 10-6-2009;  Recodification removal from the City of 
 Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010); 4-2-2013 
 

6 Parking Prohibited Between 2:00 A.M. And 6:00 A.M. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule II; Code 1983, § 
 7-156;  Recodification removal from the City of Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

7 Two-Hour Parking, 8:00 A.M. To 6:00 P.M. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule III; Code 1983, § 7-157; 
 Ord. of 7-7-1981; Ord. of 8-3-1993; Ord. of 5-2-1995(1) Recodification removal from the City of 
 Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

8 Parking Prohibited Between 8:00 A.M. And 5:00 P.M. (Code 1983, § 7-157.1; Ord. of 5-4-1993; 
 Ord. of 8-4-1998; Recodification removal from the City of Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

9 Parking Prohibited At Other Times.  (Code 1983, § 7-157.2; Ord. of 6-5-2001(1) Recodification 
 removal from the City of Graham Code of Ord.11-07-2010) 
 

                                                 

Page 45 of 81



 

 
 

                                                                                                                                                             

10 Angle Parking.  (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule VI; Code 1983, § 7-158; Recodification removal from 
 the City of Graham Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

11 Loading Zones; Handicap Parking. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule VII; Code 1983, § 7-159; Ord. of 8-
 1-1978; Ord. of 2-8-1982; Ord. No. 5-2-06, Recodification removal from the City of Graham 
 Code of Ord.12-07-2010) 
 

12 Stop Intersections. (Code 1978, ch. E, Schedule X; Code 1983, § 7-160; Ord. of 7-7-1981; Ord. of 12-
 7-1982; Ord. of 9-4-1984; Ord. of 1-8-1985; Ord. of 1-7-1986; Ord. of 6-3-1986; Ord. of 6-2-
 1987; Ord. of 8-4-1987; Ord. of 11-3-1987; Ord. of 3-1-1988; Ord. of 5-3-1988; Ord. of 8-2-
 1988; Ord. of 10-6-1988; Ord. of 11-1-1988; Ord. of 7-10-1990; Ord. of 9-4-1990; Ord. of 12-4-
 1990; Ord. of 5-5-1992; Ord. of 7-7-1992;Ord. of 9-6-1994(3); Ord. of 12-6-1994(1); Ord. of 7-
 11-1995(2); Ord. of 9-4-1996(2); Ord. of 11-4- 1997(1); Ord. of 9-7-1999; Ord. of 10-5-1999, 
 Ord. of 1-4-2000; Ord. of 6-6-2000; Ord. of 2-6-2001; Ord. of 6-5-2001(2); Ord. of 12-4-2001(1); 
 Ord. of 12-4-2001(2); Ord. of 10-3-2006; Ord. of 7-1-2008, Recodification removal from the City 
 of Graham Code of Ord.11-07-2010; Ord. of 12-07-2010); Amendment by Addition 12-06-2011. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46 of 81



\\cogad1\Graham_Share\Agenda Pending Items\2017\09‐05‐2017\Brunch Bill\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Brunch Bill.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: REQUEST BY JASON COX TO ALLOW SALE OF ALCOHOLIC 
BEVERAGES BEGINNING AT 10AM ON SUNDAYS 

PREPARED BY: FRANKIE MANESS, CITY MANAGER & AARON HOLLAND – 
ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Consider request by Jason Cox to amend Code of Ordinances to allow the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages 
on licensed premises within City limits beginning at 10:00 AM on Sundays. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

A local businessman, Jason Cox, has submitted a formal request to the City of Graham to consider recent legislation 
that would allow businesses the option to sale alcoholic beverages earlier on Sundays. On June 30th, 2017, changes to 
State law became effective that authorizes local governments to approve such a measure. This law is commonly referred 
to as the “Brunch Bill”.  The Statutes continue to make it unlawful, in general, to sell alcoholic beverages on any 
licensed premises prior to noon on Sundays unless an ordinance is adopted by the local government permitting the sale 
of alcoholic beverages on licensed premises to begin at 10:00 AM.   

The language that once referenced alcohol sales in our Code of Ordinances was removed in 2008 by the City Council in 
an effort to eliminate confusion and conflicts with State law and neighboring jurisdictions. This resulted in earlier sales 
on Sunday since State law allowed for sales at noon instead of 1:00pm as required by our former ordinance.  However, 
the new law passed by the General Assembly requires that action be taken if Council chooses to change the time of sale 
from 12:00 PM to 10:00 AM on Sundays. 

Currently, 106 cities and 13 counties have adopted the “Brunch Bill” and the number that are considering it is 
uncertain.  A list of nearby local governments and their status is attached, but should not be considered a 
comprehensive list.  The City of Graham currently has 61 businesses and 2-3 proposed restaurants that may be affected 
by any change.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the request to amend Chapter 8, Article I., (Businesses) of the Code of Ordinances to allow the sale 
and consumption of alcoholic beverages on licensed premises within city limits beginning at 10:00 AM on Sundays. 

 

Page 47 of 81



\\cogad1\Graham_Share\Agenda Pending Items\2017\09‐05‐2017\Brunch Bill\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Brunch Bill.docx 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, ADDING CHAPTER 8, 
ARTICLE I, SEC. 8-3 TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH 

CAROLINA 
 
     The City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina, does ORDAIN: 
 
Sec. 1. That the Code of Ordinances, City of Graham, North Carolina, is hereby amended by adding a 
section, to be numbered 8-3, which said section read as follows:   
 

Chapter 8 - BUSINESSES  

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

ADD: Sec. 8-3 – Sale of Beer and Wine; Sunday Sales.  

 The sale of malt beverages, unfortified wine, fortified wine and mixed beverages shall be allowed 
within the corporate limits of the City at any establishment holding a valid and current ABC permit issued 
under NCGS 18B-1001 on Sundays beginning at 10:00 a.m. 

 
 
Sec. 2. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval 
and publication, as provided by law 
 
  
This the __      __ day of __          _, 2017. 
 
 
 
                                                                      _________________________ 
                                                                      Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
City Clerk 
      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48 of 81



\\cogad1\Graham_Share\Agenda Pending Items\2017\09‐05‐2017\Brunch Bill\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Brunch Bill.docx 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    JURISDICTION      ACTION TAKEN 

Mebane  Approved time change. 

Elon  Approved time change. 

Burlington  On agenda for Sept. 5. 

Haw River  Voted to take no action. 

Carrboro  Approved time change. 

Hillsborough  Approved time change. 

Gibsonville  Has not been considered as of yet. 

Guilford County  Approved time change. 

Greensboro  Approved time change. 

Lexington  Approved time change. 

Reidsville  Has not been considered as of yet. 

Davidson County  Has not been considered as of yet. 

Sanford  Approved time change. 

Chapel Hill  Approved time change. 

Durham  Approved time change. 

Pittsboro  Approved time change. 

Edenton  Approved time change. 

Page 49 of 81



From: Jason Cox
To: Aaron Holland
Cc: Nathan Page
Subject: Request for City Council Agenda Item
Date: Monday, August 14, 2017 10:44:23 AM

Good morning Aaron

I wanted to request a consideration of passing a city "brunch bill" for Sunday AM alcohol
sales to be added to the upcoming city council meeting for September. 

Is this possible?

Thanks

j

  
Jason Cox | Managing Partner
Aedos Holdings | Jason@aedosgrp.com
Co|Operative | jason@thecooperative.co
 
Find me on…

        

 
-- CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: The information contained in this e-mail is
confidential and is intended only for the named addressee(s). If you are not the intended
recipient, please be advised that any re-use, dissemination, distribution or copying of this e-
mail message is prohibited. If you have received this e-mail message in error, please reply to
the sender that you have received the message in error and then delete it. The information
contained in this email is not intended as legal, tax, or brokerage advice and should not be
relied on as such. This email is not an offering of real estate brokerage services. Licensed
affiliates may provide brokerage, field services, property management, real estate investment
and other related services where applicable.

Page 50 of 81

mailto:aholland@cityofgraham.com
mailto:npage@cityofgraham.com
mailto:Jason@aedosgrp.com
mailto:jason@thecooperative.co
https://www.linkedin.com/in/jasonaedos
https://twitter.com/jasoncoxAED
https://angel.co/jason-cox-2


 

  
222 North Person Street ● Suite 210 ● Raleigh, NC 27601 ● www.ncrla.org ●  

919-844-0098  

 
September 26, 2017      
 
Office of the Graham City Council 
Attn: The Honorable Jerry Peterman 
201 South Main Street 
Graham, NC 27253 
 
Dear Graham Board of Commissioners:  

On behalf of the interests of the 18,000 restaurants and 1,800 lodging 
establishments in North Carolina, and especially those located in your 
area, we write to you today, to urge the adoption of the “Brunch Bill” 
ordinance in your municipality.  

S.B. 155, more commonly referred to as the “Brunch Bill,” was recently 
signed into law by Gov. Roy Cooper. The law allows Sunday alcohol 
sales to begin at 10 a.m. instead of noon. However, to be effective, local 
cities and/or counties must “opt-in” by adopting an ordinance. More than 
100 local governments across the state have adopted the language, and 
we hope that the Graham is next.  

More than 55 million people visit North Carolina each year, many of 
which spend time visiting Graham, enjoying all that it has to offer. The 
majority of North Carolina’s guests come from countries or other states 
where there are no blue laws restricting alcohol service, leaving visitors 
confused and disappointed when restaurateurs have to explain the 
situation.  

There are several restaurants in Graham along with several lodging 
establishments, all of which stand to benefit from the ordinance. The 
City of Graham boasts a strong local economy, building up local 
entrepreneurs to succeed. This ordinance, will further help achieve that; 
allowing local businesses to truly flourish; as starting Sunday alcohol 
service just two hours earlier helps the hospitality industry to better meet 
guests’ needs, generate additional revenue and create more jobs.  

Local businesses are not the only ones who stand to benefit from 
adopting the ordinance; local patrons will have a greater selection of 
brunch venues, while increased sales will generate more tax revenue for 
both local and state governments. The positive impact of this ordinance 
will only grow as brunch continues to become an increasingly popular 
setting for families to celebrate weddings, anniversaries and other special 
occasions and in integral part of people’s travel experience.  

 
Please help keep Graham a competitive place to work and visit by adopting an ordinance 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

Michael Martino, Chair 
Sheraton Imperial Hotel &  
Convention Center 
 

Scott Brewton 
Pinehurst Resort & Spa 
 
 

Phil Friedman  
Salsarita’s Fresh Cantina 
 

Gary Froeba 
The Omni Grove Park Inn 
 

Bill Gant 
Concord Hospitality Enterprises  
 

Joel Griffin 
Griffin Stafford Hospitality, LLC 
 

Peter Grills 
The Ballantyne Hotel & Lodge 
 

Alan Hilton 
S & D Coffee, Inc. 
 

Burney Jennings 
Biscuitville Fresh Southern 
 

Randy Kolls 
Washington Duke Inn & Golf Club 
 

Scott Maitland 
Top of the Hill Restaurant, Brewery 
& Distillery 
 

Amber Moshakos 
LM Restaurants 
 

Robert M. O’Halloran 
East Carolina University 
 

Rashmikant “Haji” Patel 
ex-officio 
Asian American Hotel Owners Assoc. 
 

Nishith Patel 
Beacon IMG, Inc. 
 

Vinay Patel 
SREE Hotels, LLC 
 

Tom Sasser 
Harper’s Restaurant Group 
 

Billy Sewell 
Platinum Corral, LLC 
 

Steve Thanhauser 
Angus Barn, Ltd. 
 

Charles Thompson 
The Inn on Biltmore Estate 

 

Lance Trenary 
Golden Corral Corporation 
 

Sterling F. Webster IV 
Hilton Garden Inn, Outer Banks 
Kitty Hawk & Ramada Plaza,  
Nags Head  
 

Crissy Wright 
Charlotte Marriott City Center 
 

Page 51 of 81



 

  
222 North Person Street ● Suite 210 ● Raleigh, NC 27601 ● www.ncrla.org ●  

919-844-0098  

allowing earlier Sunday 
alcohol sales.  

 
Sincerely, 

                  
Lynn D. Minges      Mike Martino 
President & CEO      Chairman of the Board 
NCRLA       NCRLA  
 

Page 52 of 81



Page 53 of 81



Page 54 of 81



Page 55 of 81



Page 56 of 81



✔ Aberdeen 

✔ Albemarle 

✔ Apex 

✔ Asheville 

✔ Bald Head Island 

✔ Banner Elk 

✔ Beaufort 

✔ Beech Mountain 

✔ Belmont 

✔ Bermuda Run 

✔ Black Mountain 

✔ Blowing Rock 

✔ Boiling Springs Lakes 

✔ Boone 

✔ Brevard 

✔ Burgaw 

✔ Burlington 

✔ Calabash 

✔ Cape Carteret 

✔ Carolina Beach 

✔ Carrboro 

✔ Carthage 

✔ Cary 

✔ Catawba- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Chapel Hill 

✔ Charlotte 

✔ Claremont- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Clayton 

✔ Concord 

✔ Conover- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Cornelius  

✔ Davidson 

✔ Dobson 

✔ Duck  

✔ Durham 

✔ Edenton 

✔ Elizabeth City 

✔ Elizabethtown 

✔ Elkin 

✔ Elon 

✔ Emerald Isle 

✔ Fayetteville 

✔ Garner 

✔ Gastonia 

✔ Goldsboro 

✔ Greensboro 

✔ Greenville 

✔ Hendersonville 

✔ Hickory- Effective Oct 1 

✔ High Point 

✔ Highlands 

✔ Hillsborough 

✔ Holly Springs 

✔ Huntersville 

✔ Jacksonville 

✔ Kannapolis 

✔ Kernersville 

✔ Kill Devil Hills 

✔ Kinston 

✔ Kitty Hawk 

✔ Kure Beach 

✔ Laurel Park 

✔ Leland 

✔ Lenoir  

Page 57 of 81



✔ Lexington 

✔ Lincolnton 

✔ Long View- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Maiden- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Manteo 

✔ Marion 

✔ Matthews 

✔ Mebane 

✔ Mills River 

✔ Mint Hill 

✔ Mooresville 

✔ Morehead City 

✔ Morganton 

✔ Morrisville 

✔ Nags Head 

✔ Nashville 

✔ New Bern 

✔ Newton- Effective Oct 1 

✔ North Topsail Beach 

✔ Oak Island 

✔ Ocean Isle 

✔ Oriental 

✔ Pilot Mountain 

✔ Pine Knoll Shores 

✔ Pinehurst 

✔ Pineville 

✔ Pittsboro 

✔ Raleigh 

✔ Richlands 

✔ Rockwell 

✔ Rocky Mount 

✔ Salisbury 

✔ Sanford 

✔ Seven Devils 

✔ Shelby 

✔ Smithfield 

✔ Southern Pines 

✔ Southern Shores 

✔ Statesville 

✔ Sugar Mountain 

✔ Sunset Beach 

✔ Surf City 

✔ Swansboro 

✔ Troutman 

✔ Wake Forest 

✔ Washington 

✔ Washington Park 

✔ Waynesville 

✔ Weaverville 

✔ Wendell 

✔ Whispering Pines 

✔ Whiteville 

✔ Wilmington  

✔ Winston-Salem 

✔ Wrightsville Beach 

✔ Yanceyville 
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 58 of 81



  
  

✔ Beaufort County 

✔ Brunswick 

✔ Buncombe 

✔ Catawba- Effective Oct 1 

✔ Cumberland 

✔ Currituck 

✔ Dare 

✔ Durham 

✔ Guilford 

✔ Hyde 

✔ Lenoir 

✔ Lincoln 

✔ Mecklenburg 

✔ New Hanover 

✔ Orange 

✔ Pasquotank 

✔ Pender 

✔ Wake 

 

COUNTIES 

Page 59 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Staff Report The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT:  THE GRAHAM 2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE 

PREPARED BY:  NATHAN PAGE, PLANNING DIRECTOR 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

Direct Staff to amend our existing future land use plan, as selected by Council. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The Graham Planning Board invited members of the steering 

committee for The Graham 2035 Comprensive Plan to convene at 

their July or August meetings. At those meetings, the following 

updates to the plan were recommended. 

 Consider creating Overlays for West Harden Street and West 

Elm Street west of the Historic District 

 Consider creating Overlays for Jimmie Kerr (one for ACC, one 

for the truck stops) 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

While changes to the plan will not cost the City in the near term, they 

may lead to different funding priorities. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Staff feels the amendments are in alignment with the general needs of the City.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we amend The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan to suggest overlays for Highway 54 and W. Elm Street, as 

well as both sides of Interstate 40/85 at Jimmie Kerr Road. 

Page 60 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Woofstock Street Closure\Staff Report Woofstock Street Closure.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: STREET CLOSURE REQUEST BY HSAC 

PREPARED BY: FRANKIE MANESS, CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve Either: 

a. Request from the Humane Society of Alamance County (HSAC) to close the 100 Block of East Elm Street, 150 feet of the 
southernmost portion of the 100 Block of North Marshall Street and the North Marshall/Elm Street parking lot on Saturday, 
October 21, 2017 and Sunday, October 22, 2017 from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. respectively, for the purpose of hosting the 
HSAC’s 20th Annual Woofstock Festival; subject to the receipt of a certificate of insurance 

b. Request from Chuck Talley to close the 100 Block of E. Elm Street from 6:00 p.m. on Friday, October 20, 2017 to 5:00 p.m. 
on Sunday, October 22, 2017 for the Humane Society of Alamance County’s 20th Annual Woofstock event; subject to the 
receipt of a certificate of insurance 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The Humane Society of Alamance County (HSAC) intends to relocate their annual Woofstock Festival to Graham on October 21st-
22nd.  In order to accommodate the festival, a street closure is required.  The City received such a street closure request last month 
but it was not received in time to make the agenda packet.  Since that original request and a subsequent analysis, members of the 
HSAC, City Staff and Jennifer and Chuck Talley met on October 11, 2017 to discuss the event and alternatives to mitigate public 
safety concerns and citizen inconvenience.    

As of the writing on this staff report, two differing requests have been submitted.  The primary difference is the duration of the 
street closure as it relates to the location of a 100’ x 50’ K-9 diving pool attraction.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Based on available information, the City’s expense is nominal.  It is assumed that the City will be asked to donate the water for the 
pool.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval of Option #1.  Option #1 limits the duration of the street closure and mitigates some safety concerns over Option #2.  
Option #1 was also the consensus of the group that met to discuss the event.  Option #2 presents a longer duration of closure and 
has received limited evaluation by the City.    

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the request (choose 1): 

a. from the Humane Society of Alamance County (HSAC) to close the 100 Block of East Elm Street, 150 feet of the 
southernmost portion of the 100 Block of North Marshall Street and the North Marshall/Elm Street parking lot on Saturday, 
October 21, 2017 and Sunday, October 22, 2017 from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. respectively, for the purpose of hosting the 
HSAC’s 20th Annual Woofstock Festival; subject to the receipt of a certificate of insurance 

b. from Chuck Talley to close the 100 Block of E. Elm Street from 6:00 p.m. on Friday, October 20, 2017 to 5:00 p.m. on 
Sunday, October 22, 2017 for the Humane Society of Alamance County’s 20th Annual Woofstock event; subject to the receipt 
of a certificate of insurance 

Page 61 of 81



 

2444 Tribek Court 

Burlington, NC 27215 

 

 

September 25th, 2017 

Graham City Council 

201 South Main Street 

Graham, NC 27253 

 

 

Dear Graham City Council, 

The Humane Society of Alamance County (HSAC) would like to request the closure of the 100 Block of 

East Elm Street, 150 feet of the 100 Block of North Marshall Street and the North Marshall/Elm Street 

parking lot on Saturday, October 21st and Sunday, October 22nd, from 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM respectively, 

for the purpose of hosting the HSAC’s 20th Annual Woofstock Festival. DockDogs, a premier canine 

aquatics competition, will be present as the Festival’s primary exhibition. Proper barriers and signs will 

be in place to provide the public with direction and ensure the safety of all of those in attendance. Local 

business owners to be affected, including Mr. Mike Holt and Mr. and Mrs. William and Jennifer Talley, 

are in gracious support of the Festival’s location and of the requested street closures. 

The Woofstock Festival has long been the HSAC’s most elaborate yearly event and we are incredibly 

excited to have been offered the opportunity to have it held in Graham for the very first time. With the 

help of our coordinators, Mr. and Mrs. Talley’s dedicated participation, DockDogs and the City of 

Graham, we anticipate our 2017 celebration to be our most successful one yet. All proceeds will benefit 

our registered 501(c)3, non-profit organization and further our mission to help our community and its 

pets. 

 

We sincerely hope our request will be approved and that all members of the Graham City Council will 

attend our 20th Annual Woofstock Festival in support of the Humane Society of Alamance County. 

 

Kindest Regards, 

 

Pamela Notchey 

Community Director, HSAC 

Page 62 of 81



Page 63 of 81



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE

9/27/2017

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

INSURED

Dan Christie dba Bounce-N-More
dba Bounce-N-More
108 New Castle Road
Mebane, NC 27302

Cossio Insurance Agency
PO Box 5987
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 688-0121

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

 INSURER A: NATIONWIDE MUTUAL INS CO

 INSURER B: Berkley Life & Health Insurance Company

 INSURER C:

 INSURER D:

 INSURER E:

Contact Name: Larry Cossio

Phone
(A/C, No, Ext):

(864) 688-0121

E-Mail: jovan@cossioinsurance.com

Fax
(A/C, No):

NAIC #

 

 

 

 

 

COVERAGES

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER: 

INSR
LTR

TYPE OF POLICY POLICY NUMBER POLICY EFF
 (MM/DD/YY)

POLICY EXP
 (MM/DD/YY)

LIMITSADDL
INSR

SUBR
WVD

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

 CLAIMS MADE OCCUR

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER

POLICY PROJECT LOC 

FWC0000028382500 7/20/2017 7/20/2018

X

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

 ANY AUTO

 
ALL OWNED
AUTOS  

SCHEDULED
AUTOS

 HIRED AUTOS
 

NON-OWNED
AUTOS

  

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT 
(Ea accident)

$

BODILY INJURY (Per Person) $

BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $

PROPERTY DAMAGE 
(Per accident)

$

 UMBRELLA LIAB  OCCUR

 EXCESS LIAB  CLAIMS-MADE

 DED  RETENTION $

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

PER
STATUTE

OTH-
ER

PAI L01200R127202 7/20/2017 7/20/2018Accident MedicalB

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

N/A

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

CANCELLATION

City Of Graham
PO Box 357
Graham, NC 27253

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Party Equipment Rentals Operations located at 108 New Castle Road Mebane, NC 27302. Certificate Holder  is listed as additional insured per form CG2011. The certificate 
holder is added as an additional insured, but only for liability caused, in whole or in part, by the acts or omissions of the named insured
Amusement devices on file with the company for special event(s) dated 10/21/2017 to 10/22/2017 located at 100 East Elm Street, Graham, NC 27253.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER:

 © 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

Y/N

XA

23787

64890

OTHER: 

ACORD  25 (2014/01)       The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

X

X

General Agg (Other than Products-C $5,000,000

Each Occurrence $1,000,000

Products and Completed Operations $1,000,000

Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000

Legal Liability to Participants $1,000,000

Professional Liability (for Event Plann $1,000,000

Damages to Premises Rented to You $300,000

Participant Accident - Excess Medica $10,000

Deductible $0

$100Accident Medical Deductible

52 weeksBenefit Period

$500,000Benefit Maximum

per Covered AccidentApplies During

Accidental Death & Dismemberment Benefits onlyApplies To

Page 64 of 81



Page 65 of 81



Page 66 of 81



Page 67 of 81



Page 68 of 81



Page 69 of 81



Page 70 of 81



Page 71 of 81



Page 72 of 81



Page 73 of 81



Page 74 of 81



Page 75 of 81



Page 76 of 81



Page 77 of 81



Page 78 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Smoking Ordinance\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Smoking.docx 

STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE TO PROHIBIT SMOKING IN MUNICIPAL 
BUILDINGS, VEHICLES, AND GROUNDS 

PREPARED BY: FRANKIE MANESS, CITY MANAGER & AARON HOLLAND – 
ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Amend Code of Ordinances to add a section prohibiting smoking in all municipal 
buildings, vehicles, and grounds. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Over recent years, staff from various departments have received numerous 
complaints concerning exposure to secondhand smoke, particularly at our recreation 
facilities, library and City Hall. Because our Code of Ordinances does not reference 
regulations on smoking, we default to the State’s laws as they pertain to smoking in 
public places. Current laws prohibit smoking in restaurants, bars and state buildings 
only, but provides local governments with the authority to adopt and enforce their 
own regulations.  

In the last few years, cities have begun to adopt more stringent ordinances to address the effects of secondhand smoke. 
This has prompted Council to direct staff to research options to address this matter. In an effort to protect the 
nonsmoking general public and employees from exposure to secondhand smoke while at city facilities, staff has 
prepared an ordinance for the Council’s consideration that would prohibit smoking on all city grounds, buildings and in 
city vehicles. This proposed ordinance would also allow business owners to prohibit smoking with greater 
enforceability. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Nominal. Anticipated expenses include updated signage at various locations. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  Adoption of the ordinance will complement the City’s wellness efforts and enhance safety at certain 
facilities. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the request to amend CHAPTER 12- OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS, 
ARTICLE I- IN GENERAL of the Code of Ordinances to prohibit smoking in all municipal buildings, vehicles, and 
grounds. 

 
 
 
 

Page 79 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Smoking Ordinance\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Smoking.docx 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, ADDING CHAPTER 12, 

ARTICLE I, SEC. 12-14 TO 12-19 TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, 
NORTH CAROLINA 

 
     The City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina, does ORDAIN: 
 
Sec. 1. That the Code of Ordinances, City of Graham, North Carolina, is hereby amended by adding a 
section, to be numbered 12-14 to 12-19, which said section read as follows:   
 

Chapter 12 - OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS  

ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL 

ADD:  Sec. 12‐14. – Smoking prohibited in municipal buildings, on municipal grounds. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to smoke, carry a lighted tobacco product, vape or otherwise use e‐
cigarettes; in any building or facility or the grounds of any building or facility, or portion thereof, now or hereafter 
owned, leased, operated, occupied, managed or controlled by the city. 

Sec. 12‐15. ‐ Smoking prohibited in municipal vehicles. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to smoke or carry a lighted cigarette, lighted cigar or lighted pipe, or any other 

lighted tobacco product including the use of e‐cigarettes, in any vehicle now or hereafter owned or leased by the 

city.  

Sec. 12‐16. ‐ Regulation of smoking in public places. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to smoke or carry a lighted cigarette, lighted cigar or lighted pipe, or any 

other lighted tobacco product including the use of e‐cigarettes, in a public place as defined by NCGS 130A‐192, 

or portion thereof, wherein the owner or operator thereof has designated the premises or portion thereof a 

nonsmoking area and posted notice. 

(b) Clear and conspicuous signs shall be posted in every building and facility and/or grounds wherein smoking is 

regulated by this article as follows:  

(1) The signs may contain the international "No Smoking" symbol, (consisting of a pictorial 

representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a circle with a bar across it).  

(2) Signs shall be conspicuously posted in a position clearly visible on entry into every building, facility 

and/or grounds wherein smoking is regulated or prohibited. 

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person to remove to deface any placard or sign erected by or under the authority of 

this section.  

Sec. 12‐19. ‐ Penalties. 

Continuing to smoke, including the use of e‐cigarettes in violation of this article constitutes an infraction, and the 

person committing the infraction may be punished by a fine of not more than $50.00.  

 

 

State Law Reference: § 130A‐498 

. 

Page 80 of 81



P:\Agenda Pending Items\2017\10‐03‐2017\Smoking Ordinance\Staff Report Amendment to Code of Ordinances‐ Smoking.docx 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sec. 2. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval 
and publication, as provided by law 
 
  
This the __      __ day of __          _, 2017. 
 
 
 
                                                                      _________________________ 
                                                                      Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
City Clerk 
      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81 of 81


	10-03-2017 Regular Session
	1. Consent Agenda:
	a. Approval of Minutes – September 5, 2017 Regular Session
	b. Tax Releases and Refunds
	c. Graham United Methodist Church Street Closure Request
	d. Graham Police Department Street Closure Request
	e. Amend City of Graham Traffic Schedules

	2. Old Business:
	a. Public Hearing and Second Reading: Code of Ordinances Brunch Bill
	b. Public Hearing: Text Amendment Review of The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan

	3. Requests and Petitions from Citizens:
	a. Request from the Humane Society of Alamance County - 2017 Woofstock Event
	b. Request from Chuck Talley for the Humane Society of Alamance County - 2017 Woofstock Event

	4. Smoking Ordinance
	5. Items Not on Tonight's Agenda



